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CHAIR HICKS:
I’d like to call the public meeting to order and start with the Pledge of Allegiance, so if you can all rise.
***

[Chairman Thomas Hicks led all present in the recitation of the Pledge of Allegiance.]

***

CHAIR HICKS:



Next I’d like to call the roll.  Christy McCormick.

COMMISSIONER McCORMICK:



Present.

CHAIR HICKS:



Matt Masterson.

VICE-CHAIR MASTERSON:



Here.

CHAIR HICKS:



Thomas Hicks, present.  A quorum being present, we may proceed. 




Next I would like to adopt the agenda.  Do I have a motion?

COMMISSIONER McCORMICK:



I so move.

CHAIR HICKS:



Do I have a second?

VICE-CHAIR MASTERSON:



I second.

CHAIR HICKS:



All those in favor say aye, all those opposed? 

[The motion carried unanimously.]

***

CHAIR HICKS:

Next I would like to offer a few brief remarks to open up the meeting.  I want to thank everyone who is in attendance here today and viewing on the web.  I am pleased to announce the EAC’s continuing efforts with our BeReady16 campaign to provide election officials and the nation tools to best prepare for the 2016 elections.  I’m confident that the information gleaned here today, combined with other resources from the EAC, will help ensure a better, more efficiently run election. 
 And with that, I want to turn it over to my Vice-Chair Matt Masterson for welcoming remarks.

VICE-CHAIR MASTERSON:

Well, thank you Chairman Hicks and thank you to everyone that’s here today and watching on the web, appreciate your patience.  Those who are here, I appreciate your willingness to adapt and succeed with us in this new room.  You know you play the hand you’re dealt, and so I appreciate you all being here and squeezing in to our cozy little confines.


Today’s meeting really focuses on how to provide better customer service to our voters.  In the end, whether it’s well-trained experienced poll workers or new approaches to ensuring shorter lines at the polls, it all comes back to better customer service for the voters.  For many jurisdictions, poll workers are the frontline of that customer service and thankfully our friends in vote-by-mail states may not be awake yet to weigh in and raise their hands and say “Oh, whoa, hold up on that.”  And while ensuring that resources are properly deployed on Election Day sounds simple, as we’ll hear today, it’s much more complex and challenging and involves complex logistics and science, at some points.


I encourage all that are watching here today to not only check out the resources that we’ll announce available today, but check out the EAC’s BeReady16 resources page.  That page is designed and made for election officials using election officials’ information.  It includes resources on accessibility, including the ADA checklist and tools to improve access to your websites, voting technology including  a much more expanded logic and accuracy testing resources and pre-election testing, contingency planning information, vote-by-mail information, and now, today, poll worker training retention resources.  BeReady16 is the EAC’s recognition that the one resource that election officials cannot get back is time.  And so, it’s an attempt by the EAC to address that, to offer quick, easy and accessible information on the topics that impact election officials and voters the most.


I look forward to listening and learning from you all today.  Thank you for your time and willingness to come in a busy presidential election year.  And I look forward to helping, or at least trying to help you all, serve your voters better.  So thank you.

CHAIR HICKS:



Commissioner McCormick.

COMMISSIONER McCORMICK:

Thank you Chair Hicks and good morning. Thank you for coming today and thank you to all of you who are joining us on the web.  


Today’s public meeting is especially timely given the election season we are already steeped in.  Election administrators are working overtime every day to make the elections the best that they can possibly be.  Because we expect “perfect” elections, even the slightest miscalculation can have big ramifications.  There are many, many moving pieces, sometimes tens of thousands of pieces of equipment, and scores, if not tens of thousands, of election personnel involved and everyone and everything must work together seamlessly to pull off a fair and accurate election.


Today we’ll be hearing from experts in the election community to discuss the allocation of the precious resources that we have available to run elections and about some of the tools that we have to make elections run more smoothly whether it be the best way to reduce lines and wait times or how to recruit more people to work at the polls on Election Day.  
I’m especially pleased with the additional resources the EAC has updated, including the Election Worker Guidebook and the compilation of the State Worker Poll Worker Requirements.  And if you are not already involved, I urge you to get involved and assist with the elections, if you can.  I’m also excited about seeing the submissions that we’re going to get from the poll worker best practices competition and what great ideas election officials are employing across the country.  If you’ve got a great idea, please submit it to us, because we can’t wait to see what’s out there and what people have -- what they’re doing across the country.

To those of you who are managing the elections this year, the EAC is here to assist you.  We have many, many resources available on our webpage, as Commissioner Masterson mentioned, www.eac.gov, especially under the hash tag BeReady16 page as he mentioned, many of those resources that we have available.  I urge you to visit that site or call us if we can be of assistance.  We are here to serve you and to help improve elections across the country.

So I look forward to today’s meeting and I thank you and welcome you to our public meeting.

CHAIR HICKS:

Thank you Commissioner McCormick.  The first part of today’s public meeting will focus on election workers with the release of our updated 2016 Election Worker Successful Practices Guidebook on Recruiting, Training and Retaining election workers.  This was formerly known as the Guidebook for Recruiting Poll Workers.  Also today, the EAC is releasing a Compendium of State Election Worker Requirements.  Both can be found on our website, as the Commissioners have said, at eac.gov or by contacting Karen Lynn-Dyson at klynndyson@eac.gov.  The EAC last published a complete manual for poll workers’ training and recruitment in 2007.  Upon our reconstitution in 2015, we published a Quick Tip Guide on how to recruit high school and college poll workers.  
Before I go too much further, I would like -- I would give the opportunity to my fellow Commissioners to make any comments on the manual or compendium.

COMMISSIONER McCORMICK:

No, I’m just thankful, Karen and all your folks putting the work into that manual and I look forward to it being of great help to election administrators across the country.  Thank you.

CHAIR HICKS:

I would also like to thank Karen Lynn-Dyson for all her hard work in making sure that this compendium and manual was put up and done today.  I’d also like to thank Denise Lamb, Connie Schmidt and Maggie Ollove, who, without their help, this -- neither one of these would have been completed.  


The new guidebook is a culmination of nearly a year of research into identifying and characterizing successful practices for recruiting, training and managing election workers.  The information contained in the guidebook has been gathered from and vetted by election officials from around the country.  It should be noted that the information is organized into four chapters and features links to over 90 successful practices collected from election officials.  It is an easy-to-read format organized around basic concepts for recruiting, training and managing workers.  Each section of the guidebook presents benefits, challenges and suggested tips to consider when recruiting bilingual workers or persons with disabilities, also taking into account new election laws and new voting equipment and how to keep your good election workers.  These workers are sometimes the only face of the government that the voter has contact with and should be the best representative the jurisdiction has to offer.  This is also done in a Quick Tip format.  

Lastly, the new guidebook is designed to be a living document adaptable with change.  The EAC hopes that with its release today and online exchange of best practices materials among election officials by using eac.gov, Facebook and Twitter will begin today and continue into the foreseeable future.


Would any of my Commissioners like to comment on the guidebook or the compendium anymore?  No?

VICE-CHAIR MASTERSON:



No.

CHAIR HICKS:

With that, I would move to accept the guidebook.  And without hearing any objection, we accept the guidebook for publication.


Next is the release of the 2016 update to the State Compendium of State Worker Requirements.  This is an update of the 2007 EAC volume.  It should be noted that the EAC received updates from nearly all 50 states.  The alphabetical listing of each state also allows readers to review the legal requirements for serving as a poll worker in their state.  
Would any of the Commissioners like to make a comment on the compendium?
VICE-CHAIR MASTERSON:

Just briefly, I want to thank the states and also our legal intern, Shelby, for the work that she did, and our General Counsel Cliff Tatum.  This is one of those resources that you would be surprised how often we get asked about what the laws around poll workers and election workers are around the states and I’m thankful that this is something we have available and can share.  So, thank you.

CHAIR HICKS:

The compendium can also be found on the EAC’s website or on our BeReady16 page or, again, by contacting Karen Lynn-Dyson, here at the EAC.


Is there any objection to accepting the compendium for publication?  Hearing none, we move to have the compendium published and hopefully have out today.


Next the EAC is releasing a webisode on Recruiting, Training and Retaining Election Workers.  On March 29th the EAC worked with several election offices and other stakeholders to film this webisode.  I’m happy to say that it’s being released today.  This 40-minute piece features officials with firsthand experience, and the webisode highlights ideas and suggestions to remember as election workers move into the intensive period of recruiting and training their workers for the general election for 2016.  Right now I would like to play the snippet or the teaser for the webisode. 
***

[Playback of webisode segment]

***

CHAIR HICKS:

I would note that to get information about being an election worker map by state that includes key information, including election worker links for the states that have them, go to electionworker.gov.  The sub domain will be live soon and it’s my hope that after this meeting today it will be live.  If your state -- if the state that you need is not on our map, email us at BeReady16@eac.gov and we’ll get you that information as soon as possible.

We’re also working with usa.gov to promote the need for election workers nationwide and more information will be forthcoming, so stay tuned.


Lastly, before we get to our first of two panels, I’m happy to announce that the EAC is conducting a national competition for best practices in recruiting, training and retaining election workers.  The panel of seven election officials and advocates, all members of the EAC Board and Advisors and Standards Board have agreed to serve as judges for this national competition.  With today’s announcement the EAC hopes to continue collecting and posting best practices, ideas from around the country via most of our, if not all, of our social media outlets.  The criteria that may be used to judge the best practice winners will be based on innovation, sustainability and scalability and have been proven to be effective.  The winners of the national competition will be announced at the EAC’s September 8th public meeting.  For information about the competition, go to our website at eac.gov and our BeReady16 page.  If you would like to submit an entry, please do so by September 1st at clearinghouse@eac.gov.  
Would my fellow Commissioners like to talk a little bit about the national competition?  

VICE-CHAIR MASTERSON:

No, Mr. Chairman just – well, yes, I guess Mr. Chairman briefly.  By no, of course, I meant yes.

[Laughter]

VICE-CHAIR MASTERSON:

This competition and this idea is fantastic and I want to encourage election officials from across the country, but in particular those from medium and small jurisdictions who frequently struggle to find poll workers, struggle to find the resources they need for election worker training and retention and quite often are overlooked as far as scalable resources.  And so, not to discourage our friends in the larger counties whom we love, but I would really love to get some resources from our midsized and smaller counties around innovative and new ways to not only recruit the poll workers, but retain and train them, because it’s critical as you look at the thousands of election jurisdictions across the country.  And I applaud you Mr. Chairman for organizing this competition.  I think it’s a great thing for us to be doing.
CHAIR HICKS:

Thank you.  Can I just borrow this real quick?  So this is our announcement that is not coming up on the screen right now, but --so for everyone who can’t see it online, it will be available on our website with the exact criteria.


And with that I want to thank the panel for their patience and do a brief introduction and allow folks to give their comments.  First, we want to start with Kelly Buckland, who is the Executive Director of the National Council on Independent Living.  NCIL advances independent living and the rights of people with disabilities.  Kelly started this career as an employee for Idaho’s Protection and Advocacy system.  He worked for over 20 years as Executive Director of the Boise Living Independent Network Corporation and Independent -- State Independent Living Council.  He has served on the Idaho Developmental Disabilities Council and State Employment and Training Council and the State Help America Voting Act Steering Committee.  He has worked on issues affecting people with disabilities, including the passage of Personal Assistant Services Act and the Fathers and Mothers Independently Living With their Youth Child Custody Laws.


Benjamin Uminsky is the Executive Assistant Data Science for the Los Angeles County Registrar/Recorder Clerk office.  He joined them in 2007 where he worked as an HR analyst for six years.  He joined the department’s executive office in 2013 to head up the newly developed data analytics program, where he has been working on various data science projects including revenue forecasting, poll worker classification modeling, voter file duplication identification, deceased voter matching, precinct turnout prediction models and others.

Sherry Poland was appointed Director of the Hamilton County Board of Elections in 2014.  In this role, Ms. Poland is responsible for the day-to-day operation and administration of all local, state and federal elections that occur in Hamilton County.  Ms. Poland began her career with the Board of Elections in March 2004.  Prior to becoming Director, she served as the Board’s Operations Administrator where she was responsible for all aspects of voting counting process.  Ms. Poland has administered over 40 elections including three presidential.


Daniel Baxter is the Director of Elections for the City of Detroit.  He was reappointed by City Clerk Janice Winfrey in October of 2015, in his position he previously held from January 2006 until August 2013.  He gained further experience nationally as Director of Elections in Montgomery County, Alabama, from August 2013 to October 2015.  Daniel worked for the Department of Elections as a temporary junior typist in 1985.  Since that time he managed to move up through the ranks, aspiring to the highest position within the department.  During his more than 30 years of employment he’s worked in all divisions within the Department of Elections.

Last, but not least, Doug Chapin is Director for Program for Excellence in Election Administration.  Chapin came to the Humphrey School after ten years at The Pew Charitable Trusts, where he served as Director of Elections Initiatives for the Center on the States.  Under his leadership, Pew’s election team successfully lobbied for enactment of military and overseas voting reform in Congress and state legislatures; enlisted dozens of states and technology partners like Google, Microsoft and Facebook to provide official voting information online and via mobile technology, and worked with election officials, academics and technical experts to design and implement efforts to upgrade the nation’s voting systems.

With that, I’m going to turn it over to Mr. Buckland and remind the panel that we have a timer here that’s set for five minutes.  So we ask that you summarize your written testimony within that timeframe, thank you.

MR. BUCKLAND:

All right, well, thank you, Mr. Chairman and good morning and good morning to the Commissioners.  
I’d like just to quickly introduce myself.  I’m Kelly Buckland.  I’m the Executive Director of the National Council on Independent Living and it’s my honor to appear before you today on behalf of our membership, which is composed of Centers for Independent Living and the Statewide Independent Living Councils and individuals with disabilities to discuss the importance of improving poll worker training with regard to disability and accessibility, increasing recruitment of poll workers with disabilities, and improving the lines at polling places.


Just a quick point of personal privilege, if I may, I’d like to recognize Mr. Jim Dickson, who is Co-Chair of the NCIL Voting Rights Committee, as well, and who’s in the room.

According to a study conducted by Doug Kruse and Lisa Schur of Rutgers University, Meera Adya of Syracuse University, 15.6 million voters with disabilities voted in the election of November of 2012, a number which is comparable to the number of African-Americans, 17.8 million, and Hispanics, 11.2 million, who voted.  Unfortunately, among voters with disabilities surveyed in this study, 30.1 percent reported experiencing one or more difficulties in voting.  Only 8.4 percent of voters without disabilities faced difficulties.  Furthermore, among persons with disabilities who have not voted within the last ten years, 40.1 percent of respondents said that they would anticipate some difficulty voting if they wanted to vote at the polling place.  And that’s compared to only 1.2 percent of people without disabilities who have not voted in the last ten years.  

However, there is almost no difference between voters with and without disabilities when it comes to being treated with respect by election officials at the polling place.  86.8 percent of voters without disabilities and 84.7 percent of voters with disabilities surveyed reported that they were treated very respectfully by poll workers.  And that’s been my personal experience, too.  I’ve been always treated with utmost respect and professionalism by the poll workers.


One way to potentially improve understanding of disability and accessibility at the polls would be to increase the recruitment of poll workers with disabilities.  Deanne Hart, a member of the NCIL Voting Rights Subcommittee is legally blind and has been a poll worker in Delaware County, Indiana, and she offered this insight.  “The significance of people with disabilities being poll workers demonstrates the importance of our inclusion/ acceptance within the community and the power we all have to stand up for our civil rights.  As a person with a disability, a person with a significant visual impairment, legally blind, at first I was hesitant to volunteer to be a poll worker.  To date, I have previously served in every poll worker position; sheriff, clerk, judge and inspector.  The latter, inspector, is where I’ve have really found my niche.  I work with six other individuals on Election Day, two sheriffs, two clerks and two judges, who work as a team.  As in any job, you have essential functions and transferrable functions and you delegate responsibilities when appropriate.  The inspector and two opposing party judges make up the precinct election board and I turn to them for help as needed.”

 Also, I would just like to mention that my wife also has a disability and she is also an election worker and a poll worker and she showed me the election officer manual that they provide in Fairfax County, and I noticed on the webisode that there’s a gentleman there from Fairfax County, and he mentioned recruiting poll workers with disabilities.  So, I think that’s really interesting.  And there’s a section on how to treat people with disabilities at the polls in the training guide that Fairfax County uses.  So -- and I read through it and it’s really good information.  So -- and my wife really enjoys her time at the polls when she works the elections.  I mean, it’s long hours, but she really enjoys being there and doing it, so I think that’s something that we should try to expand on.

There’s -- in my written testimony, which I will submit for the record, or I can provide it electronically, if you so desire, there’s a number of resources that we point out that you can use to recruit people with disabilities at the polls.  Most of them are organizations that work with people with disabilities, including NCIL, of course. 


And then, just quickly I want to mention a study that was done on poll worker training programs and this was done at Paraquad, which is a center for independent living in St. Louis.  And there’s a number of -- I see my time is running short – so, there’s a number of facts and figures about the study that they did on poll workers with disabilities at Paraquad, and suffice it to say researchers found a lot of significant issues around disability at the polls.  And so, we also provided, if you will, a map that kind of shows what we think is one of the best ways to lay the process out.  

And then, finally over half the poll workers -- in this study over half the poll workers exposed to Election Day job aid reporting used it and among those who utilized the aid, 90 percent reported that they felt that the aid was very helpful.  This is talking about having an aid at the polls, because of the job and it was successful as compared to mixed results of the training.  

So, with that, Mr. Chairman, I see my time has expired and I want to thank you.  And, like I said, I’ll leave a copy of my testimony for the record and we can provide it in electronic format too, if you would like.

CHAIR HICKS:

Thank you.  What we’re going to do is have everyone give brief remarks and then we’ll open it up for questions.  But we will submit all your information in the official record, thank you. 

MR. UMINSKY:

Chairman Hicks, Vice-Chair Masterson, Commissioner McCormick, I thank you greatly for the opportunity to come and share with the Commission the very interesting work and relevant work that LA County Registrar/Recorder is doing in the field of data science and advanced data analytic technique as it pertains to the managing of our poll worker programs.


I’d like to share a little bit of some data with you to highlight the challenges that a large county faces as it pertains to trying to find enough poll workers to man many, many precincts, to serve many, many voters.  To give you an idea, for the November 2014 general election, we were able to recruit a little over 24,000 poll workers to man a little over 4,500 precincts.  And we made it.  We hit our numbers.  We didn’t see long lines.  While there were some hiccups out in the field, voters received the services that, you know, we intended to provide to them.  However, to highlight the challenge of finding that many people we had to call and speak with roughly 36,500 individuals.  
So, the question then, is, why the gap?  Why so many more people than we actually needed?  Well, as it turns out, we saw about 4,400 folks that we did call and get commitments from, end up calling us back and telling us, “Sorry can’t do it” for a myriad of reasons; could have been childcare, could have been illness or simply lack of desire.  That happens, right?  Also, saw about 2,500 folks when we did call them share with us, either politely or impolitely, “No thank you,” they were just not interested.

But the worst for us, because it has such a tremendous effect on Election Day, are our no-shows, because we can’t know until that day when they don’t show up.  We saw 5,500 individuals that we thought we had commitments from, not show up.  So what does that mean?  Well, that could potentially mean poll locations not opening on time, slowed because we didn’t have enough folks there, materials not where they need to be.  So, it causes tremendous delay, and it causes tremendous amount of resources being spent by our organization trying to send folks out last minute, identify new folks to get them out there, so on and so forth.  So it’s a true challenge for us.

So, if you can imagine, if we had a crystal ball and we knew who to call and get commitments from, versus not who to call and get commitments from, that would be great for us.  Well, we’ve attempted to develop a crystal ball so we would have more success in being able to, on Election Day, have the right people out there that we knew were committed and were working for the department.  So, as part of the data analytics project we’ve been able to develop a prediction algorithm that is able to classify for our recruiters who the right people are to call when recruiting from a pool of about 109,000 individuals that have worked for us at some point in the past, right?  And while I will not get into, given my brief remarks, how that statistical modeling works, I’m happy to answer those questions at a later point, I will say this.  In simulated elections we’re seeing on average for a general election about a 67 percent success rate without the model.  With the model we’re seeing an 88 percent success rate.  What does that actually mean?  Well, if we were to redo 2014 over using this model where we saw 12,500 negative outcomes of no-shows and cancellations, using this model we would reduce that number down to about 3,000.  So, while that’s not a perfect algorithm, it doesn’t pretend to be a perfect algorithm, we’re seeing a 75 percent reduction in the number of negative outcomes, which basically means we’re still able to find the right people while not have to worry about having the wrong people that we thought we could count on, that we can’t really count on.  

So, we are now at the point of being able to operationalize this algorithm.  Our recruiters are using the new lists that’s being generated for them from this prediction algorithm.  And the lists are basically the name of the poll worker and a score associated based on what the algorithm sees in their data pattern and a threshold saying, you know what?  Call the people that are above this threshold and don’t call the people below this certain threshold.  And if you run out of folks we can move the threshold down, still maintaining high levels of accuracy.  So, we’ll see from the primary election how that actually goes. 

Likewise, as a part of recruitment, as you can imagine there are hard to recruit poll locations.  They consistently come up from election to election and we don’t get the staffing that we need for a myriad of reasons.  So as part of the data analytics program we’ve been able to identify ahead of time.  So instead of waiting until the last minute and realizing, oh my goodness, we still have boards of two where we didn’t make our numbers, we’re able to anticipate ahead of time which areas should we concentrate more resources upfront so that we can find the right staffing, so that at the end we’re not in a pinch.


And lastly, I’d like to share with you, and this is currently in development -- I see that my time is running out -- lastly in development right now is a prediction algorithm that will help us identify for any future election what turnout will be at the precinct level.  As you can imagine what the business applications are for that, particularly if we can identify “hot” precincts that we expect that we need to have additional staff for poll workers, we’ll know ahead of time as we go into that election how many more poll workers we need to have at those special “hot” precincts, how many additional supplies, how many additional ballots, so on and so forth, based on predicted turnout.


So that’s the type of work that we are doing in LA County.  The idea is to move our management of these programs into a more data-driven approach so that we can have more impactful management decisions that will yield better outcomes for us.


I thank you for the time and I’m happy to answer further questions at a later time.

MS. POLAND:

Good morning, I’d like to talk a little bit about how implementing new technology can actually impact recruiting, training, and retaining election workers. 

In November of 2015 Hamilton County, Ohio, implemented electronic poll books for the first time in a countywide election.  And we anticipated there would be some minor technical glitches and a learning curve for the poll workers, as the technology was new.  However, those technical glitches and the learning curve for the poll workers rose to a level that was unacceptable and it really left a little bit of a black eye on Hamilton County Board of Elections and our poll workers.  So, with the presidential primary election just four months away, after the November election, there was little time to correct the problem.  
We focused on two aspects.  One was fixing the technical glitches and the other was improving our poll worker recruiting and training.  Fixing the technical glitches actually ended up being the easier of the two.  A thorough testing revealed that there was a simple hardware defect in the router.  We replaced all the routers and did some minor tweaking on our checklists and those issues were resolved.  
However, the learning curve for the poll workers was a little more challenging.  We decided to attack that challenge by focusing our efforts on the two areas I mentioned before, training and recruiting.  We tweaked our training curriculum to provide more hands-on breakout sessions and decided to train all poll workers on all processes.  We realized in the November election that sometimes the poll worker that we may have trained specifically for certain duties may not be as comfortable with the technology as another poll worker that we had trained on different duties.  We developed and instituted a pass/fail test at the end of the poll worker class.  If the poll worker failed the test, he or she could choose to retake the class and the test a second time.  We also implemented something called “practice makes perfect” and we allowed the individual poll workers to come down to the Board of Elections after their formal training and just practice at an e-poll book.  We set up numerous devices with different voting scenarios and the poll workers could just practice over and over again until they felt completely comfortable with the process.  

Recruiting and retaining poll workers is never an easy task and new technology -- adding new technology to a group of workers whose average age is close to 70 can be a herculean task.  To accomplish our recruitment and retention goals we launched two programs, “Partners in Democracy” and “Youth at the Booth.”  Our “Partners in Democracy” program encourages local government agencies and businesses to give their employees the day off for democracy.  By giving their employees the day off, with pay, plus the additional poll worker pay, employees had a financial incentive to work the polls.  In order to develop these recruitment programs, we knew we needed to develop personal relationships.  Simply sending an e-mail or mailing an informational packet is not enough to convince government and especially business leaders to give a day off with pay to their employees.  So our Board created two new full-time recruiter positions to build and maintain those relationships.  The Ohio Secretary of State, John Husted, is also assisting local Boards of Elections in Ohio by assigning a marketing and outreach manager to each Board of Elections to assist in reaching out to the local business communities.  Finally, after each election our Partners in Democracy are presented with a plaque and are recognized publicly for their partnership.

We also quickly realized we needed to recruit younger poll workers who are familiar with today’s technology.  To the younger generation comfortability with wireless devices is almost second nature, so we turned to our local high schools.  And fortunately, in Ohio, 17 year old high school seniors are allowed to work the polls on Election Day, so that gives us an even great pool of poll workers in which to recruit from.  But this concept was not new to Ohio.  Our “Youth at the Booth” program actually started in the late 1990s, but it just didn’t receive a whole lot of attention.  However, the introduction of iPads to the election process has sparked a new interest, and teenagers can see how incredibly valuable their technology skill sets are in the election process.  And honestly, the local media loved the story.  Every news network in Cincinnati ran at least one story about the “Youth at the Booth” program leading up to the presidential primary in March.  We were able to place a high school senior in 50 percent of our polling locations.  And they 
-- the teenagers received universal praise from their adult counterparts.  Their adult counterparts loved having them work with them.  And our goal is to place one high school senior in every polling location in the upcoming presidential election.  And we hope to unveil a “Youth at the Booth” challenge at the start of the school year in order to reach that goal.
These recruitment efforts are in no way an effort to phase out our older generation poll workers.  To the contrary, they are an effort to build the perfect team.  We can pair the younger generation’s familiarity with today’s technology, the business community’s work experience and customer service experience with our older generation’s knowledge of election procedures to create an ideal group of poll workers.  Building a team of poll workers who work well together increases the board’s ability to retain those workers for the years to come. 
That concludes my testimony for today.  I’d be happy to answer questions later. 

MR.BAXTER:

Good morning, it is definitely a delight to come before this body and share information as it pertains to how the City of Detroit Department of Elections recruits and retains poll workers for Election Day.


First and foremost, I just want to share with you the genesis in terms of our focus pertaining to this upcoming election.  As you know, the November 8th presidential election presents challenges in and of itself just based on the total voter turnout in any community is the highest nationally.  But for the State of Michigan, one of our biggest challenges is is that the legislature and the governor just adopted a bill that eliminates straight party voting.  
With that being said, one of the biggest challenges as it pertains to that is to manage lines on Election Day to ensure that we don’t have an increase in a bottleneck because voters have to vote for the individual candidates in all offices, particularly in the City of Detroit.  So, our concept was to make sure that we implement a new process to guarantee efficiency at the precinct on Election Day.  
So, in Detroit, we have 490 precincts and of the 490 precincts, 73 of them have, in 2012, 600 to 1,200 voters, who engaged in the process for that particular election.  And as such, what we decided to do was to split those precincts out to make sure that when voters attend those polling places they would have an option to go to table one or table two, ultimately cutting the processing time down in half.  In addition to that, we’re going to increase our voting booths to make sure that we don’t have a bottleneck there.

With that being said, we had to introduce an additional 500 poll workers at the polls on Election Day, so that was a challenge in and of itself.  Then, with the presidential primary election we noticed that, as with most communities, you experience a deficit on Election Day.  You train and you prepare for Election Day.  And for us it takes approximately 4,000 poll workers to man our 490 precincts on Election Day and of the 4,000 we lost about 500, so we had deficits in certain precincts.  So, we wanted to guarantee that that doesn’t occur for the November election, so we had to trump up our recruiting process for the City of Detroit.  
And what we did at the top of the year we worked with the Detroit public schools.  Detroit public schools has 22 high schools and we called in all of the student council representatives for each school, and brought them in and talked to them about “Democracy for Tomorrow.”  “Democracy for Tomorrow” is a group of individuals, high school students, who are concerned about the future of the elections and who want to participate in that particular process to guarantee that every voter has an opportunity to engage in the process.  With that group of individuals there were about 50 students who came in, and we talked about elections and we talked about perhaps having a mock election in the Detroit public schools.  We met with the administration in Detroit public schools and they agreed.  And what they decided to do is to have the candidates for President of the United States on the ballot, as well as two advisory questions that they would submit to the students for them to vote on, so that they would have a part in 21st Century education in the City of Detroit.  So, we had the election, the mock election, about a week-and-a-half ago in Detroit public schools.  Detroit public schools have approximately 32,000 students in their high schools, and of that 32,000, approximately 20,000 participated in the election.  
The beauty of that was the fact that we thought that we could kill two birds with one stone.  First and foremost introduce voters -- students to the voting process, and then, the other part was we could register students to vote and recruit.  We were able to register approximately 1,200 students to vote for the upcoming election cycles, but the beautiful thing that occurred for us was the fact that in one day we were able to recruit more than 700 poll workers with that “Democracy for Tomorrow” program.  Those students have been recruited and we sent notices to them via the mail as well as e-mail thanking them for participating in that “Democracy for Tomorrow” program.  The next process is to make sure that each one of those students have an opportunity to go through our training program.  We start training poll workers approximately 60 days prior to the election and each one of those students will have an opportunity to go through the training process to ensure that they have a fundamental understanding of what they need to do at the precinct on Election Day.  

In terms of our training, because of the various changes in things that will impact us on Election Day, we’ve revamped our entire program.  Just yesterday we had a production company come out and observe the voting process whereby they’ll be able to create a training video for us for our poll worker training.  And the training video will consist of opening the polls on Election Day, processing voters on Election Day and closing.  Those are the three main thrusts for Election Day.  

And then the fourth element is dealing with problems on Election Day, problems that impact voters or impact the poll workers.  First thing in the morning when they open the polls, if the machine isn’t working, what do you do, problems such as dealing with provisional voters, and problems such as what happens if the print totals process doesn’t function properly.  And each one of those particular training packs will be placed on our website whereby the poll worker will have the opportunity to access that as a refresher.  And on Election Day, if they have a problem, we require for our polling site assessors to have smartphones where they can go on to our website and pull up that particular problem and whittle their way through that process to have a fundamental understanding to guarantee exactness in terms of election results on Election Day.


So, we’re excited about where the Detroit Department of Elections is.  We’re looking forward to the August primary because we’ll have the opportunity to kind of use that as a benchmark to make sure that every element of our process is functioning the way that it is to guarantee that on Election Day on November 8th each voter will have an opportunity to engage in the democracy process without any type of barriers.

So, I thank you for this opportunity and this has definitely been a pleasure. 

MR. CHAPIN:

Thank you, good morning Mr. Chairman, Commissioners.  In percentage terms, I can add precisely 0.00 repeating to what my fellow panelists have said about the importance of good poll workers, whether it’s young people, tech savvy people, people with disabilities, in some communities people who have alternate or multiple language abilities, customer service, or even our favorite people, just the ones who will show up when they’re supposed to on Election Day.

[Laughter]

What I wanted to talk today about is something that we’ve been working on at the Election Academy at Minnesota in a partnership with the Fair Elections Legal Network and a group called Development Seed with a grant from the Prototype Fund.

When we hear about state and local election officials across the country attempting to recruit poll workers, they’re still using what I would call the old poll model, where you basically advertise for poll workers and hope that somebody will place -- will respond to your ad.  What we’ve found in my work at Pew and elsewhere is that with the technology we have with laptops, with mobile technology, people are more and more looking for ways to connect where I am, where I live, where I work with opportunities to learn more about the election process.  So whether it’s registering to vote or checking your registration, whether it’s through something like the Voting Information Project, finding out where do I vote, what’s on my ballot and what have you, there are opportunities out there to create portals that then you can share over social media, word of mouth, just about any community network, to give people an opportunity to connect where I am to where I need to be.  And so, with that…
CHAIR HICKS:



Doug, I’m sorry, can you give that website?

MR. CHAPIN:

I will.  It’s called workelections.com.  And workelections.com is built on basically the same model as the Voting Information Project.  It’s currently active on a prototype basis in seven states; Arizona, California, Florida, Nevada, New Mexico, Ohio and Virginia.  But the concept is really simple.  You can put in an address.  You can put in a ZIP Code.  If you’re one of those people who actually knows what county you live in, you can put in your county name.  And what it will do is it will take you to a page that tells you what the requirements are, what the pay is.  And if that community has a recruitment page, it will give you a button that takes you to that page.  If you live in a community that does not have its own recruitment page, the site has its own survey which allows you to fill outs what language ability, technical ability, what have you, and then will forward it to the responsible local election official.  The idea is to shorten the distance between someone who is both, capable, but also willing to be a poll worker and the people in the election offices who need them.


And so, we’re letting people know about this.  We’re going to be rolling it out over the next several months.  So, I wanted to let the Commission know, I wanted to let my fellow panelists know, wanted to let any of you out there in webcast land know, that if you’re interested in giving us your information, and we will certainly be strip mining the Commission’s materials on election worker requirements for this project, as well, but drop us an e-mail at info@fairelectionsnetwork.org and we will make sure to get you added to workelections.com.  
But the goal is that instead of advertising for election officials, one of my colleagues talks about being in the state of Michigan and hearing the local election official essentially begging for poll workers on NPR.  And he said, I don’t know how many people who would actually be poll workers are listening to NPR.  This is a way to use Twitter, Facebook, Instagram, Snapchat, all those other things that my kids won’t show me how to use, to reach out to people who may have alternate language abilities, to people with disabilities, to businesses, and the like, to shorten that distance and hopefully, give people, like Ben and others, a pool of people who will actually show up on Election Day and, like the other panelists, people who will actually know what they’re doing.


So again, I hope you’ll all take a look at workelections.com.  E-mail us if you’d like to participate and if you have any questions, and I know we’ll get into this in the Q&A portion, you can also reach me at my university address at d.chapin@umnedu.  
Mr. Chairman, I will yield back the balance of my time.  Thank you.
CHAIR HICKS:

Thank you.  And I think that that’s a first time you haven’t used all your time.

[Laughter]

MR. CHAPIN:

Someone said that brevity is the very soul of wit and it is my goal to be witty today.

CHAIR HICKS:

Well, I want to open it up to my fellow Commissioners for questions, but I also wanted to make sure that I let everyone know that we’re going to include your entire bios in the materials.  I briefly summarized it, and any materials that you might submit we’re also going to compile all that.


So, with that, I want to open the questions to Vice-Chair Masterson.

VICE-CHAIR MASTERSON:

Thank you Mr. Chairman, and thank you to all of you for being here and your testimony, it was excellent.  And I actually have more questions than you can imagine, but I promised my fellow Commissioners not to take the rest of the day asking you all questions, because there’s a panel.

The first question is for Mr. Buckland and that is I was wondering I know your testimony -- your formal testimony has some information on the Paraquad research that was done and information.  But if you have it available can you share a little bit about what the findings were, about the challenges that voters with disabilities to continue to face and some of that research?

MR. BUCKLAND:

Yeah, thank you Commissioner Masterson, that was a part I didn’t get to talk about much, and so, I appreciate the opportunity to go into it more.  


It basically was in three phases and what it was trying to do was identify what kind of training really works best with people with disabilities.  And what we found was it’s a variety of different kinds of training work with different people with different kinds of disabilities.  But the finding -- researchers developed new curriculums for poll workers out there, so the gist of it really was that the current way that training is provided may not be the best way to train poll workers, especially poll workers with disabilities.  So, it provides some alternatives, and one of them was the job aid that I spoke briefly about.  And that’s actually providing someone who can walk people through the process and train them at that time.  So, it was essentially from the door through the whole process of voting, walking somebody through that and training them on how to do it, and not just giving them a manual and expecting them to learn from that, but actually providing a number -- like I think somebody mentioned on the webisode like some people learn visually and some people learn in other methods.  So this was kind of looking at that and what works best for people with disabilities.  

So, I hope that was helpful. 

VICE-CHAIR MASTERSON:

Very helpful and that’s publicly available that we could take it and include it in our resources.  Is that correct?

MR. BUCKLAND:



Yes sir, and some of it’s in my written testimony.

VICE-CHAIR MASTERSON:

Excellent, excellent, thank you.  I’m not going to lie, Mr. Uminsky, when you started talking algorithms, I got very excited.  We can have a side conversation about that.

[Laughter]

But I will say I think your colleagues up testifying with you appeared intrigued as well by what you’re doing in the data analysis.  So the first question I have, is this something that’s publicly available?  Is this something that LA County would share with other particularly large counties, I think, in doing that?

MR. UMINSKY:
Absolutely, I think one of the greatest challenges for our organization, despite our size -- it’s true we have probably larger budgets than many election administrations do, but despite all that we’re still limited in what we can and can’t do.  So, for me, as heading up this program, it was a challenge to find something that was cost effective.  So, could we have gone to a vendor that had a fancy program to do these things?  Sure.  Could we have purchased fancy software to do these things, spend a lot of money on licenses?  Yes, of course we could do those things.  But instead, we’ve been able to find free software and we use the -- it’s called R Statistical Computation software.  It’s open source.  Anyone can use it.  I learned how to use it and do these things in about six months.  So, any election administration who is interested in mining their data, because I assure you, most everyone has the same data that we have, maybe a little bit less of it, depending on your voter size, but still it’s very relevant data.  A lot of the data that we use came directly from the Census Bureau.  Things that helped inform us about based on where our voters live and where our poll workers live, we can know things such as median income and all sorts of other demographic information that we don’t collect, but would be useful to an algorithm, right?  But it’s all free, and it’s just a matter of spending the time and allowing staff to learn these things and dig into the data to derive interesting and important business insights.
VICE-CHAIR MASTERSON:

How does the algorithm account for new residents of LA County?  So, as you look at your confidence rate, you know, obviously, LA County, you know, has quite a bit of turnover, both new and leaving.  How do you account for that, in your confidence ratio, to reach out to those folks new to LA County?

MR. UMINSKY:  

Absolutely, so it is true that this algorithm uses a myriad of data points that help inform it as to what would be a high score versus a low score.  But, it, in a sense, based on the data that exists to us, it is biased towards folks that have high levels of civic participation, such as voting records.  So, if you have a lengthy voting participation rate, you’re probably going to get a higher score.  If you’ve worked with us for a lengthy period of time and have a proven track record, you’ll probably have a higher score.  But that doesn’t mean that there aren’t other data points for younger voters, for other folks that haven’t spent as much time in LA County, that won’t provide them with additional scores.  There’s a lot of other data points, a lot of demographic data points that allow for a myriad of different types of poll workers to be included in the high scores.  

The really interesting thing, too, for us, is, we ran our entire 4.8 million group of voters through this algorithm, because in our minds, we’re like, well, this is a whole untapped pool of folks that we’ve never called before.  Sure 100,000 is a lot, but we go through those lists very quickly.  So, is there a way we can bring in fresh folks that have never worked for us, never been contacted before?  And as it turns out, the algorithm has found 87,000 additional folks from our voter file that we’ve never called before and that would potentially be folks that would say yes and be committed on Election Day to working as a poll worker.

VICE-CHAIR MASTERSON:

I can assure you, and I think I speak for the other two Commissioners, I think we’ll be following up with you on how to share this with other election officials and the work you’re doing. 

MR. UMINSKY:


Absolutely.

VICE-CHAIR MASTERSON:

I mean, it’s amazing work and the approach you’re doing. 

MR. UMINSKY:

Thank you.

VICE-CHAIR MASTERSON:

So, kudos to you.  Hi Sherry, I’ll take a point of personal privilege.  Sherry is the election official in my home county of Hamilton County, Cincinnati, Ohio, which I fondly miss.  And so, thank you for the work you do.  Thank you for serving my mother.  I assure you she’s a high-needs voter for you all.

[Laughter]

And this question goes to any of the panelists, honestly, but I’ll start with you, Sherry.  And that is, as you were identifying and rolling out this new technology, and you know, as any election official does, assessing your risks, were you looking at the age of your poll workers?  I’m sure you addressed training, but, you know, was this something you had identified before?  And now that you’re bringing in younger poll workers, are they naturally gravitating to, “Hey, you know what?  I’ll set up the poll book, I got this.” 

MS. POLAND:
Yes, we did look at the risk and looked at the age of our poll workers.  We did look at that prior to implementing.  We had focus groups of poll workers that came in, actually, before we implemented, so we could get their feedback.  And there really wasn’t any red flags that came up, at that time, that would tell us, you know, we’re not ready for this yet, that they’re not ready for this yet.  I think that in hindsight, perhaps, that when, during the training, there were poll workers who maybe didn’t want to admit that they weren’t grasping the new technology, we tried -- our mistake was that we tried to make it be so easy for the poll workers.  We didn’t want this technology to scare them, and I think by just saying over and over again “This is really easy, there will be no problems” then the poll workers were a little intimidated to actually raise their hand and say “I’m not grasping this.”  So, that’s why we’ve tweaked our training and that sort of thing. 

I’m sorry, what was the second part of your question?

VICE-CHAIR MASTERSON:

Did the younger poll workers naturally gravitate towards setting up the newer technology?
MS. POLAND:

Absolutely, absolutely, I actually have a personal story.  I have a 17 year old high school senior, and, of course, I recruited her to work the polls in the past March presidential primary.  And she attended the training class and came home and said, “Mom, I don’t understand what you’ve been stressing out about the past few months, you know.  These e-poll books are really easy.” 
[Laughter]

And I said, “Well, now imagine teaching grandma and grandpa how to use the e-poll books,” and she said, “Oh okay.”  But she very much enjoyed her experience on Election Day.  
And then, like I said, the media in Cincinnati loved the story.  They did lots of interviews with the kids that worked the polls, and I think it made them feel really proud and special.  So, it’s definitely an avenue we’re going to continue to reach out to.
VICE-CHAIR MASTERSON:

Awesome, and I think it’s an awesome example, too, of taking a challenging situation for you all, and you’ve turned it into a positive, both bringing new people into the process, but also, the media, seeing how you’re proactively addressing some of the concerns, which, I think is really awesome.


For anyone on the panel, I promise this is my final one, for now, as you focus on recruiting poll workers, and we talked a little bit about recruiting voters with disabilities to be poll workers, language minorities, and your focus on language minorities, I know you mentioned as part of the algorithm, just a little bit about how you target language assistance in poll worker training, you know, do you work with your language assistance office, which I know is very active?  How do you all address some of that in the recruitment process?  And then, Doug, how does your tool, I think you said it allows people to self-identify, but if you could address that a little bit, as well.  

MR. BAXTER:

In the City of Detroit our biggest minority population, of course, is African-American.  However, Hispanics and Arabic represent a large portion of our population.  And what we do is, is we work with the council member that represents those particular communities and we also set up satellites in those communities to ensure that we have outreach to recruit individuals who speak Arabic, as well as Spanish.  With our -- 30 days prior to every election we send out an Election Connection newsletter and that Election Connection newsletter is in English, Arabic, and in Spanish, and we recruit poll workers for that particular reason -- or through that particular medium, so that we can make sure that we have representation at each one of those particular communities.  In Detroit, the southwest community is largely representative of Hispanics, so we make sure that in each one of those precincts we have at least one person who can assist in interpreting the ballot or any type of instructions that they need, in addition to the northeast side of the city is represented by Arabic, and we make sure that we have representation in each one of those particular communities.  Each one of those individuals who are recruited by us, they’re trained to deal with those particular sensitivities and we make sure that each one is assigned a t-shirt that says Spanish interpreter or Arabic interpreter, and it’s in their particular language. 

MR. CHAPIN:

Yeah, in terms of what the site does, if a jurisdiction, like, say, Detroit, says that it needs Spanish speaking and/or Arabic speaking poll workers, the site will say that.  And if the community has its own poll worker page, I’m guessing there will be an opportunity for individuals to self-identify.  For folks who don’t have their own recruitment page, our survey includes questions about whether or not you speak -- you feel comfortable communicating in another language.  And you may even get some communities that don’t know that they need someone who speaks Hmong, but might want to have a person like that in the polling place.


One other thing, since we’re taking points of personal privilege, I do think -- one of my long-term goals with this project is to help make the profession of election administration look more like the populous, generally.  And as we’ve seen, I think most of my fellow panelists will probably attest that poll work is often a gateway drug into election administration.  And so, to the extent that we can pull people from communities, whether they are voters with disabilities or people who come from communities with other language experience, to the extent that we can bring poll workers in, who then, maybe catch the bug and become election officials, makes the profession look like the populous, which can only be a good thing in the long term.  So, anything we can do to facilitate that process, we’re happy to do.  

MR. BUCKLAND:

Commissioner Masterson, if I might, please remember folks who are deaf or hard of hearing.  They are going to need interpreters whether poll workers or whether people coming to the polls to vote.  So -- and there’s some guidance in the Fairfax election guide that I had talked about earlier about how to communicate with people who are deaf.  So, it’s brief, but I think that’s an area that we probably need to do some more work on.

MR. UMINSKY:

Just briefly to add, it’s -- for LA County, we have so many different communities and language needs, and while Spanish is probably the most ubiquitous as a foreign language, I know we do staff different -- and it’s at the precinct level, because we can know that.  The voters are able to tell us what their needs are, in addition to, we can rely upon data that we glean from the Census Bureau in terms of foreign languages by census track and what projections we need to make in terms of services that we should be providing at the precinct level.  And we rely upon all of that and funnel that information to our poll worker recruitment program, so that they know, okay, for this particular Board, we need to have this number of poll workers, and we need to at least have this number of folks that can speak Spanish, that can speak Russian, that can speak Chinese, or whatever the case is.  And so, we do rely upon those data points to help us know what we need to be providing.  
And something that we have learned, and I think it’s very common in terms of recruitment for most anyone, is you try to minimize distance travel, from poll worker home to poll worker site.  So, you’re already going to be recruiting from those communities, and so, it makes things a little bit easier when you know, okay, half our folks need to be speaking Spanish.  Well, we’re going to be recruiting from those communities directly, right?  And so, we can rely upon, hopefully, in addition to this algorithm we’ve created, to be able to identify those folks that speak those languages and we can count on them to show up on Election Day.

COMMISSIONER McCORMICK:

Wow, I’m just like three shot espresso excited about some of the ideas that I’ve heard here today.
[Laughter]

I mean, this is great stuff, and I appreciate you all coming here and sharing what you’re doing with us and with those who are watching on the webcast.  And hopefully, some of these ideas will filter out to the election administrators across the country.  


I have a few questions.  I will start with Mr. Chapin.  Great project that you’re working on, excited about that.  Is there any cost for jurisdictions using this election worker app?  And what kind of response have you seen in the states, so far, where this has been rolled out?

MR. CHAPIN:

To answer your first question, there’s really no cost other than the effort to make the information available.  The goal is to make it easier for folks to share their needs and their information with people who are looking for it.  So, we certainly don’t charge for it.  It really is intended to be a service that expands your reach. 

It’s early yet on uptick, in terms of how many people are using it.  We’ve really just put it together and are rolling it now.  The places that we worked with to set up the prototype states are very excited about it, and we’re hoping, especially once the primary season is over and people start to think about the fall, to start pushing this out through social media, all of those channels I know about and those I don’t, to allow election offices to make connections to the people they’re going to need in November.

COMMISSIONER McCORMICK:


Great, thank you.

MR. CHAPIN:



Thank you.

COMMISSIONER McCORMICK:

Mr. Baxter, we’ve sometimes heard that education officials are not, you know, they’re reluctant, or they’re opposed, with sometimes legitimate reasons, working with election officials.  Did you experience any of that when you were rolling out your program in the schools there?  And if not, would you -- you know, what is it that you think encouraged the education officials to work with you to get this going?  Because we’d love to see more cooperation between education officials and election officials across the country.
MR. BAXTER:

Well, I don’t know how much you know about the City of Detroit, but
 the Detroit public schools, at this particular time, are going through a number of challenges, and what they really -- it was probably fortuitous for them to partner with us in order to cultivate a feel-good story about the Detroit public schools.  And they felt that it would be a great opportunity for the students to have a chance to answer some questions as it pertains to how DPS is administered.  For instance, one of the questions that they posed to the students was, do they think that it would be a good idea to post the building surveys after each inspection occurs for each building, because there’s some challenges there.  And then, the other question was, do you think that students should be present at all of the Board of Education meetings to offer viable input?  So, those questions were kind of intriguing.  Even the media picked up on that to kind of, you know, articulate what DPS was doing.  And that opportunity kind of locked -- was in lockstep with where we were going and the schools were very happy to work with the Department of Elections.  And one caveat that was beneficial for us was that our current city clerk used to be a former school teacher for Detroit public schools, so that carried a little weight for us, as well.  
But no, we had no challenges.  It was a great experience.
COMMISSIONER McCORMICK:

So, but what I think I’m hearing you say is that they found some benefit in working.

MR. BAXTER:



Absolutely.

COMMISSIONER McCORMICK:
See, I think what we’re seeing is that the education officials aren’t finding benefit to working with election officials.  And I think the…

MR. BAXTER:



Correct.

COMMISSIONER McCORMICK:

…more we encourage the benefit to the education folks that maybe we’ll see some more cooperation like you have.

MR. BAXTER:



Absolutely.

COMMISSIONER McCORMICK:



So, that’s great.

MR. BAXTER:



Thank you.

COMMISSIONER McCORMICK:

Thank you.  Ms. Poland, thank you for being here.  You mentioned the average age of the poll workers is 70.  Was that before or after you put in your “Youth at the Booth” efforts?

MS. POLAND:



That was before.

COMMISSIONER McCORMICK:

And how has that changed since you -- or have you done that metric at all?
MS. POLAND:

I have not done that metric yet.  But I think that we did lose some poll workers after implementing the e-poll books, but those that were maybe on the bubble and came back in March when they had their younger counterpart that took over running the e-poll books and then they could sit back and handle more of the procedural questions, that type of thing, actually really helped tremendously in keeping the older generation poll workers.
COMMISSIONER McCORMICK:



So, have you heard some feedback from them? 

MS. POLAND:



Yes.

COMMISSIONER McCORMICK:



And what kinds of feedback have you heard from them?

MS. POLAND:

Very positive feedback regarding the “Youth at the Booth” program with having the high schoolers work with them.  Also, something else that we did, is, we increased the number of troubleshooters or rovers that are out in the field and we made them much more accessible to the poll workers.  So, we’ve received a lot more positive feedback regarding that.  In fact, we even had a poll worker that called and wanted the home address of their troubleshooter because she wanted to send them a thank you card for all their help. 

[Laughter]

So, yes, I think -- and again, looking at the younger generation to get involved, we tapped into our local colleges to recruit those troubleshooters.  You know, sometimes they have to deal with a little more difficult situations; sometimes conflicts between voters and poll workers or campaigners, and so, we didn’t want to put that burden on the high schoolers, so, we went to the colleges to recruit he troubleshooters, and again, had very positive feedback from our older poll workers.
COMMISSIONER McCORMICK:

That’s awesome, thank you.  Mr. Buckland, you mentioned your organization and other organizations that election officials can call with regard to recruiting persons with disabilities to be poll workers.  Are there any other special or additional considerations that election administrators would need to employ in the recruitment of poll workers who might have disabilities?

MR. BUCKLAND:

Yeah, I think if you’re going to recruit people with disabilities, you do need to make sure that first of all your facilities are accessible and secondly…

COMMISSIONER McCORMICK:



Great point.

MR. BUCKLAND:

…some of the communications things that we just talked about in regards to people who are deaf.  And so, yeah, you need to be ready to accept people with disabilities.  
And then, the first part of my testimony kind of focused on how you can do job customization for people with disabilities.  In other words, like some of the skills that are needed to do one job they may not be able to provide -- or do those tasks, but they could take something else somebody else is doing and that person could then perform the functions that they’re supposed to.  If you will, so you customize the job to fit the person’s abilities.  And so, that’s another thing that you need to be mindful about, is, there are ways to do that.  And there’s materials out there about how to do that.  So, there’s some assistance to help put that together.

COMMISSIONER McCORMICK:

So, it sounds like it takes some planning, but it is achievable, and maybe some checklists would be helpful, as well.
MR. BUCKLAND:

Yeah, and the resources that we provided are really good resources to help you do that, too.  They can help you…

COMMISSIONER McCORMICK:



Great.

MR. BUCKLAND:

…make sure that you’re accessible, you’re ready to receive people as poll workers and that you understand how to do that job customization and that kind of stuff.  So…

COMMISSIONER McCORMICK:

Thank you.  And Mr. Uminsky, what kinds of data is in this recruitment algorithm?  I find this fascinating.  And then, of that data, are there one or two pieces that are, you know, more useful than others, or is it just kind of equal across the board?

MR. UMINSKY:
Absolutely, so, when I was developing this algorithm, one thing that occurred to me was, what would really drive a poll worker to be a poll worker, right?  And in talking to our poll worker recruiters there’s a lot of different things that, you know, when they call people they rely upon, you know.  Is this person -- are we calling a poorer neighborhood?  Is this person regularly engaged with us?  So on and so forth.  So, I tried to model a lot of those intuitions, right?  So, some of the data points are exactly reflective of those types of human intuition, such as civic engagement, right?  So, I really felt that civic engagement would be a great predictor for whether or not you’re going to be civically engaged and work at the polls, right?  
But what proxy value or what metric can we use to represent civic engagement, right?  So, it got me thinking, like, well, you know, what about, you know, donations made to charities?  Is that reflective?  What about whether people, you know, attend social gatherings or churches is that reflective?  Well, that all might be reflective, but I don’t have access to any of that data, right?  But one thing that got me thinking was, well, we do have direct access to probably the most relevant, and that’s voter rates.  So, are you actually a voter?  Are you showing up and regularly casting a ballot?  Because, that, I think, really reflects that level of engagement that we’re looking for, right?  And so, as it turns out, that is one of the core predictors for the algorithm, is, civic engagement through voting, right?  And it’s not just voting, right?  We had to -- we can develop rates of, okay, for the last “X” number of elections you showed up this many times.  So, we can get that rate.  But, we also found that there are different levels of engagement, different clusters that we might say, like, okay, well, these voters, you know, they are consistent 100 percent voters, right?  But they only showed up for the last two, right?  So, maybe that doesn’t reflect good engagement.  So, we had to do some additional mathematical derivation in the model to really tease out, okay, which folks can we really use this metric for, and which folks the metric doesn’t really apply that much.  
In addition, median income is another one, and we were able to pull that data directly from the Census Bureau.  While I would have loved to have mined the Franchise Tax Board’s data for our individual voters, that would have been illegal, and I wouldn’t have been able to get access to that data.
[Laughter]

But we do have a really good proxy, in terms of median income, at the group block level, for the Census Bureau, and that data is publicly available and it’s free.  It’s just a matter of matching up where our folks live, which, we know, finding out what their specific group block assignment is and then matching that up with the Census Bureau and be able to pull that in.  In addition, it’s not just a matter of median income, but a gender split on median income, because that matters greatly that we realize, as well, and we happen to collect gender data on all of our voters.  Likewise, age data is an important predictor.  There’s lots of additional data points, and other data points I would love to pull in that we don’t yet have access to to further refine and make the model be more accurate than it is.
COMMISSIONER McCORMICK:

It’s a great use of data mining, really.
MR. UMINSKY:

Thank you.

COMMISSIONER McCORMICK:

I mean, we have been trying to promote the use of data, and this is just a great example of how useful data can be in elections.  

MR. UMINSKY:
Thank you, and it’s been a very fun and interesting project for me as a data scientist.

COMMISSIONER McCORMICK:

So, one further question, have you been able to reduce your staff manpower necessary for recruiting by using this algorithm?

MR. UMINSKY:
So, I think like anything, when you move an agency into a new culture of data-driven decision making, it’s going to take steps, right?  So, where I would love to say, “Hey, you know, everyone is just using the list generated by this algorithm,” that wouldn’t be a fair assessment of where our managers are and where are recruiters are.  It’s a slow process in which they now have a new tool that they can engage.  We will monitor the success of that tool from election to election.  And as more and more recruiters and managers see that the tool is really accurate, they’ll push this more onto the recruiters and say, “Okay, guys, your human intuitions are great and we want you to continue using human intuitions, but you know what?  We’re going to use these lists as our core list,” right?  So, I can’t represent that we are there yet, but they now have a new tool that they are using and they are engaging, and we’re able to monitor very accurately and very precisely how good this tool is.

COMMISSIONER McCORMICK:



How many elections have you used this for?

MR. UMINSKY:

So, this is the first election that we’ve been able to operationalize this. 

COMMISSIONER McCORMICK:



For the primary coming up on June 7th?

MR. UMINSKY:


Absolutely.

COMMISSIONER McCORMICK:



Okay, great.

MR. UMINSKY:  


So, it will be a great election to test it out on and see how well it performs.

COMMISSIONER McCORMICK:

Great, thank you all very much for being here.  Commissioner Hicks, thank you.

CHAIR HICKS:

Thank you.  Most of my questions have been asked, but I do have a few other ones, as well.

Mr. Buckland, I want to thank your wife for serving as a poll worker in Fairfax County.  I had the privilege of serving as a poll worker for several elections before I started working in the House of Representatives, and then, wasn’t able to continue on with that, but I wanted to say, please, thank your wife for serving as that.  And wanted to ask what sort of things can also be done for the recruitment of people with disabilities other than just making sure that they have access to the polls themselves?  How can we expand that out a little bit more?

MR. BUCKLAND:

Well, that’s a great question.  I think the study that was done at Paraquad gives some of that and you can look through that.  But I think really kind of one of the best ways I think is kind of demystifying this whole process for people.  I think a lot of them don’t feel like they could be capable.  I think if you -- at the first of my testimony I talked about the woman who is blind and that she was reluctant at the beginning, I think because she was concerned about how her skills as a blind woman would be used.  And I think that’s what most people with disabilities are concerned about, is, are they going to look at my disability and not my abilities and not know that I can contribute.  And so, I think, one, demystifying the process and letting them know that it’s accessible, and you actually would love to have their skills at the polling places, really -- is a really good tool to recruit people.  Make them feel welcome and make them feel wanted.  I think that’s the…
CHAIR HICKS:
Right, I think that human aspect means a lot to a lot of different people.

Mr. Uminsky, this is just really exciting to me.  I’m actually coming out to California for the primary, so, I’m interested to hear more about how this is actually going to be implemented.  I guess my question goes back to a little bit towards the new laws that are going to be taking effect, in terms of the automatic voter registration, because you mentioned that mostly with people being recruited as poll workers, it comes on with them being actually registered to vote, or being, basically, a high school senior, maybe, as well.  But I wanted to know how you are intending, if you are, to use the automatic voter registration piece to go towards recruiting new poll workers, as well.

MR. UMINSKY:

Absolutely, so, as it turns out, while registered voters is probably our greatest pool of candidates that we pick from, there are other folks.  So, you know, other county agencies provide volunteers and they don’t necessarily live in LA County.  We have Orange County that directly neighbors us, so there’s that commuting.  And we’re able to recruit folks from that pool as well.  So you don’t have to be a registered voter.  Just as, you know, we recruit high school students, we -- I think Sherry talked a little bit about a high school recruitment program that they’re doing.  We do something very similar and we’re trying to bring in, you know, younger voters to be part of this process.

But to answer your question, I think, for us, with Motor Voter, as we see a massive influx of newly registered voters that are done automatedly for us, what that basically means is that’s just more folks I could run through the algorithm and identify as to whether or not based on whatever data point exists, because I’ve seen the algorithm be able to predict on someone that has had zero voting experience and very little work experience, but there are additional data points that make them a high probability candidate as well.  So, those folks won’t be missed simply because they’re new to the system.  The likelihood may be much lower than someone that is a steady voter, and steady worker, for the algorithm, but that doesn’t mean that we’ll be able to gloss over it.  
And, in addition, as I really want to stress, while these algorithms are wonderful, they’re only one tool, right, for our recruiters.  So, our recruiters will still be expected to reach out to different communities, regardless of what the algorithm says, still be able to reach out and maintain those relationships to find new folks that the algorithm is not going to find because, remember, the algorithm is based on the data that we have, and some of the data is dirty or noisy and may confuse the algorithm, and likewise, there may be data points that we’ve never imagined, that the algorithm can’t predict on that a human being picking up the phone and making contact with another human being would be able to yield really good results, as well.  So, we just need to combine multiple approaches to be able to pull in a lot of those new folks that are going to be pulled in from Motor Voter.

CHAIR HICKS:

Great, thank you.  This, I guess, question goes to Ms. Poland and Mr. Baxter, and if you can each individually answer it I’d really much appreciate it, but I guess it goes towards recruitment of younger poll workers, and you both individually talked about that.  And, I guess it’s more of my interest in knowing more about how we can do this in a way that doesn’t alienate older poll workers.  Because, I guess that the other piece of the question that I wanted to have answered was, do you gear your training towards the age of the individual, in terms of younger folks may be more interested in learning through technology, or older folks might want paper to be used towards their technology -- towards their recruitment and learning of how to become a poll worker and the training itself.  So, do you gear your training towards the overall different demographics of the poll worker themselves?  Because, I guess I’m going towards the -- when we build buildings, you might build a school a lot differently than you would build a nursing home, in terms of the people who are actually using that facility.
MS. POLAND:

Right, we -- right now, our training is geared -- everyone receives the same training.  And we did that because we -- in the November 2015 election, the first time we implemented on a countywide, we did, sort of, tweak the training, and certain individuals attended one type of class, and certain individuals attended a different type of class.  But we realize is that you can’t pigeonhole people into those particular categories.  And again, after the election, the feedback that we got -- after the November election, the feedback we got from a lot of the poll workers was that, you know, “I was sent to this class, but if I would have been instructed on how to do this certain process, I could have helped a lot on Election Day, but because I wasn’t trained on that, I didn’t know.”  So, what we did in the March election was everyone received the same training and that seemed to work a lot better for us. 


But then, we also -- we have voting location managers and it’s their job to actually assign the jobs on Election Day.  And so, we -- when we train the location managers, we teach them to look for that, you know, identify those workers in your location that would be better suited to run the e-poll book, or that would be better suited to, you know, pass out the “I Voted Today” stickers, or to assist someone at the voting booth, that sort of thing. 
CHAIR HICKS:



Great, great.

MR. BAXTER:

We just had this argument at my office last week, in terms of new technology versus paper, and how the different demographics -- age demographics learns and understands.  The visuals are geared toward more younger folk, whereas, we also supplement that with handouts.  In fact, we’re putting together a poll worker manual for all of our poll workers so that they can take that home for review.  So, they’ll have the manual as well as the video to couple with that to ensure that each one of those individuals -- or those learning models will be incorporated in terms of our particular training. 

For the most part, with our young folk, yeah, we try to push them toward the technology.  But we have learned through the years that, you know, just because you’re not 18 through 35, it doesn’t preclude you from using technology.  We have some more seasoned poll workers who are more efficient on our M100 tabulators, AutoMarks, as well as our electronic poll books than some of our young folk, who are 18, 19 and 20.  So, we try to incorporate and blend all of the learning models in our training to ensure that each one of our poll workers receives that particular model that best suits them.

CHAIR HICKS:

Great, thank you.  And I guess most of my question was geared towards the fact that when we release our new election worker manual, today, it’s really heavily weighted onto links themselves, as opposed to the way that it’s usually been done of just focusing on just the printed word.  It’s mostly, you click on that link and you get more information that way.  And so, that’s what I was trying to emphasize a little bit more with that question itself.


I wanted to follow-up a little bit on your recruitment of poll workers.  You said that you do it mostly through government agencies or corporations.  But I wanted to know, do you also look at advocacy groups, as well?

MS. POLAND:

Yes, yes, and that’s something that we’ve done for many years, is contacting all the local church organizations, different civic organizations.  The reaching out to the government agencies and the local businesses is something new, because we’re asking them to give their employees a day off with pay. 
CHAIR HICKS:

Um-hum.

MS. POLAND:

But yes, traditionally, we still recruit from those other avenues as well.

CHAIR HICKS:

Great thank you.  And Doug, I’m not forgetting about you, so thank you again for agreeing to testify, last minute, for us.  But I wanted you to expand a little bit more out on your work with the website, itself, because I have seen it in action and I think it’s great, and wanted to know what sort of steps are you going to take to expand it out to not just those seven, but hopefully, include all 50 states and territories, as well.

MR. CHAPIN:

Basically, what we’re trying to do first of all is we’re trying to get as many folks within the sound of my voice or the webcast today to reach out to us.  We will, as I mentioned, strip mine the materials that you all have made available to pull as many of those as possible.  I will definitely be reaching out to state associations, to election officials across the country.  We really are -- this is intended to be a way to expand their reach.  We’re hopefully not trying to create more work for them.  I think, long term, I’d love to find a way to partner with initiatives like the Voting Information Project and other data systems to make this kind of information available as a matter of course.  But, really the goal is to get as close to 100 percent coverage as possible by November, and hopefully, result in these folks and their colleagues across the country having more people than they know what to do with on Election Day.
CHAIR HICKS:
Okay great, thank you.  Unless there’s a brief question, I wanted to excuse the panel and take a ten-minute break, and then come back with the second panel.  Thank you all for agreeing today, thank you.

***

[The public meeting of the EAC recessed at 10:54 a.m. and reconvened at 11:11 a.m.]

***

CHAIR HICKS:

In starting off, we’ve already introduced Doug Chapin, and then, we will talk next, to his right is Eric Fey, who departed for work on the morning of January 20th, 2015, as the St. Louis County Council Legislative Aid.  By the time he returned home that evening, Fey had a heftier title, Director of St. Louis County Board of Elections.  His work in elections began at Webster University as an undergrad, he signed on as a poll worker to pick up extra spending money, like many of us did.

[Laughter]

After earning a graduate degree from the University of Missouri, St. Louis, Fey spent three years as an electoral board employee.  Along with a bachelor’s degree from Webster University in political science, Fey holds a master’s degree in public administration from the university with a specialty in election management and has served as a foreign election observer in a range of countries, from the now Russian occupied territory in the Ukraine, to Belarus, to Kazakhstan, to Macedonia.  

Charles Stewart is a Professor at -- of Political Science at MIT where he has been on the faculty since 1985.  Professor Stewart has written numerous books and scholarly articles about elections, Congress and the American political history.  For over a decade, he has been the MIT’s Director at Caltech/MIT Voting Technology Project, the program founded in late 2000 aimed at preventing a recurrence of the technology lapses that put the 2000 presidential election in question.  He is currently principal investigator of Polling Place of the Future project, which is funded by the Democracy Fund to encourage a better understanding of the dramatics that lead to long lines at the polls and to adapt techniques from management science to the problem of allocating resources at the polling places.

Michael Ertel has been Supervisor of Elections for Seminole County for 11 years.  Prior to becoming a supervisor he was a radio personality and award-winning writer and journalist.  Mr. Ertel spent eight years in the U.S. Army with stints as a public affairs representative during the Los Angeles riots and during the Macedonia and Bosnian operations.  After serving in the Army he was in the public affairs field, including serving as the Seminole County government’s first public information professional, as the director of public relations for a 185-location bank, and conducting post-disaster public relations for the State of Florida’s tourism marketing agency, Visit Florida.

And last, but not least, John Fortier joined the Bipartisan Policy Center, (BPC), in April of 2011.  He is a political scientist who focuses on governmental and electoral institutions.  Prior to coming to BPC, he was a research fellow at the American Enterprise Institute, where he also served as a principal contributor to the AEI-Brookings Election Reform Project.  He is the Executive Director for the Continuity of Government Commission, and the project manager for the Transition to Governing project.  He was also a regular contributor to the AEI Election Watch series.

And with that, I want to turn it over to Doug to give brief remarks.  Also, I wanted to remind folk that we have a timer up here that’s geared towards five minutes, so if you can summarize your question -- or your statements, we’ll go from there. 

MR. CHAPIN:

Thank you Mr. Chairman.  Realizing that rather than yielding my time previously, I probably should have banked it for now.  
[Laughter]

MR. CHAPIN:

But I will still try to be brief.  Thank you very much for having me back for panel two.  I feel a little bit like a comedian at a rock concert in that I’m here to warm you all up for the real talent that’s to follow.


But very briefly, let me talk a little bit about the work that we’re doing at the University of Minnesota and I how I think it’s relevant to what we’re going to talk about today.  I work with something we call the Election Academy at the University of Minnesota’s Humphrey School of Public Affairs and the mission of that group is to identify, recruit and train the next generation of election administrators across the country.  And in that service we have created a new certificate in election administration, a graduate level degree or credential that is recognized by the Regents of the University of Minnesota that allows people in the field of elections, current graduate students or really anybody from another field interested in elections, to become a part of the field of election administration.  We’ve got online courses in the law, in various topics in elections and the like.

The goal is to give the next generation of election officials the tools they need to do the work that they do on behalf of our voters across the country.  And I think one of the key tools that we are just now discovering in the field is how to use data, how to use the information you have at hand to prepare for Election Day.  And the reason why that’s important is that, one, Election Day is a challenge.  It cannot, as Commissioner Masterson has noted, you can’t -- you don’t get more time.  Election Day is going to happen on the date it’s supposed to, no extensions, no opportunities for extra time.  And so, being ready for voters on that day is crucial.

But the other thing that’s important to remember is that the way we conduct elections in this country has changed in recent years in ways that I think the field is still trying to catch up to.  In the old days we cast our ballots at what I like to call Norman Rockwell precincts.  They were neighborhood precincts; a school, a church, a community center where your neighbors staffed the tables and you and your neighbors went to a geographically convenient polling place to cast your ballots on a single day.  We now know, like a lot of the nostalgia that Rockwell paintings evoke, that that’s an era that’s gone by.  We do have many states that cast ballots only by mail, plus we have the expansion and explosion, really, of non-polling place election systems like early voting, like vote-by-mail, like the new Colorado model where voters are mailed a ballot and then the option to return them back.  In that environment, not only is it crucial to know how many people are going to show up on Election Day, but also, to know when they’re going to show up, where they’re going to show up, and how they’re going to cast their ballots.  The folks on this panel, both practitioners and academics, will probably be able to tell you way better than I can what the predictors are, but we now know that there are different groups of people whether it’s demographic, generational, geographic, what have you, who experience and use the election process differently.  There are people who are hardcore vote-by-mail folks.  There are folks who still want to go to polling places.  There are other folks who want to cast their ballots before Election Day, but want to go to a physical location to do so.  Knowing how many of those people there are, who they are, what their language needs are, if they have disabilities, what else might impact the process is I think a necessary skill for election administrators going forward.  
And that’s why I’m excited and looking forward to hear what the other panelists have to say, because the one service that we can do our voters is to be ready for them when they come to us.  A vote is a very previous thing.  It is -- it’s an act of civic engagement.  It’s a gift that we as citizens give to one another in making the decisions to help run our country and our communities, and so, if voters are willing to give us that gift, the least we can do is be prepared for them when they do.
So, to all of you out there, if you’re interested, I would love to hear from you, in working with us at the Election Academy on the certificate of election administration, but if nothing else, remember that being prepared for Election Day is something that’s not only important, but only changing at an incredible rate of speed.


And I will against all advice yield the remainder of my time, thank you.

MR. FEY:

Good afternoon, or I guess it’s still morning.  I’d first like to thank Chairman Hicks and the Commission for inviting me here today.  It’s quite an honor to be with you here.  
As most of the Commissioners and panel know, in April, in Missouri, we had our municipal elections in St. Louis County.  We ran into some issues where we did not send the correct amount of ballots to a number of our -- about 15 percent of our polling locations, and this happened in the timeframe in a dynamic of running almost two elections concurrently.  We had our presidential primary election March 15th and our municipal elections April 5th.  And I know there are a number of jurisdictions across the country that you know have elections back to back to back.  That was a first for us, in Missouri, to have those two elections almost concurrently, so my employees were stretched very thin and I think I e-mailed Brian before I came up, this matrix, that’s essentially a spreadsheet that we use to organize the election in order, the right number of ballots for each precinct.  And so, essentially what we had in a number of precincts in a polling place if you have three, four, five, ten ballot styles for the ballot style where we needed 50 ballots we sent 200, and for the ballot style we needed 200 ballots we sent 50.  So in a number of places we ran out of ballots quite quickly.  And normally this wouldn’t be as big of a problem as it was, but we used all of our DREs in the presidential primary election in March.  In St. Louis County, we deploy both DREs and optical scan paper ballots and in a normal election, other than the presidential election, about 75 to 85 percent of our voters choose the DRE.  But because we used all of our DREs in March we weren’t able to turn them around quickly enough for the April election, so we deployed only paper ballots.  So, when we ran out of paper ballots, it meant people were turned away.


And so, early in the morning on Election Day, we realized this fact, issued press releases immediately.  And as this panel, since we are discussing preparedness, I learned from this experience, one aspect I think of being prepared is building media relations.  And it did help on Election Day that, you know, I had with a number of reports and media outlets kind of established relationships.  And it’s much easier, I would say, with like print and radio because they have beat reporters.  Quite often local television, they don’t have the beat reporter for local government or elections, so I didn’t know those reporters as well.  But by the end of the day I had given you know well over, you know, 20, 30 interviews and my wife told me I looked a whooped dog.

[Laughter]
And so, I think some reporters started to take pity on me, which I think helped in a way.

But now moving into we have a state primary in August, obviously the November election, we’re undertaking a number of preventative measures.  And key amongst those is just instituting some additional controls on our proofing process, which is obviously where we faltered before April.  But also, you know, St. Louis County experienced a somewhat similar problem in November of 2014 in our midterm election before I became director.  And to that point we had utilized an out-of-state printer, and so, my co-director and myself went out to bid for a new print contract.  We contracted with a local printer and that helped greatly in responding to the ballot shortage we had this election.  So our printer was just, you know, a ten minute drive away, so we were able to respond very quickly.  But even with that, going forward, now we’re amending the contract with our printer and every ballot printer if they, especially if they print offset, they have overruns of ballots on Election Day.  So we’re now going to pick up the overruns before Election Day, have them onsite, and so we can, hopefully this doesn’t happen, but deploy those overrun ballots even more quickly.
I think I have maybe a little bit more time.  The other thing I want to mention, you know, Doug did talk about that, you know, the old kind of Norman Rockwell system of going to a neighborhood polling place and voting.  Well, that kind of still exists in Missouri.  We’re in the minority of states with no early voting, no excuse absentee voting, no -- I mean, if you want to vote through the mail you got to have an excuse and you have to vote absentee.  So, nearly 90 percent of our voters in St. Louis County go to the polling place on Election Day and vote.  And what -- all of our neighboring jurisdictions now have deployed electronic poll books.  We just completed an RFP for electronic poll books, you know.  CNN and, you know, the major media outlets they want to go someplace on Election Day where there will be lines, because that makes good TV.  And I know they were in St. Louis County on the presidential primary Election Day and they asked me, “Where can I go to see lines?”  So, it is a worry of mine, and so last year I attended a conference in LA County with the Bipartisan Policy Center and saw Mr. Stewart’s presentation, so I realized -- I used his tool to try to figure out, you know, how many voting booths we needed, and so forth.  So because our budgets are always tight, everybody’s budget is always tight, went out and bought just a whole bunch of cardboard, had my warehouse staff cut it up into voting booths and so we’ll have a whole bunch of additional voting booths because hopefully the electronic poll books will move the line.  And where the real bottleneck will be, I think, is at the actual voting booth, because in November the ballots are so long and, you know, in St. Louis County, I think it will be approach 40 candidates and ballot propositions for any particular voter to vote on.  And, you know, the dreaded two-page ballot is a real fear of mine, like you see in Florida sometimes.  
So, you know, those are some of the concerns we have, some of the things we’re trying to do moving into the election.  And with that Mr. Chairman I will -- I don’t have much time to yield, but that would be it for me.  Thank you.

DR. STEWART:

Thank you.  And again, as with the other panelists, I would first of all like to thank the Commission for inviting me today to talk a little bit about tools to allocate resources to polling places on Election Day.  And my remarks are going to come from my work with the Polling Place of the Future project that was mentioned in the introduction, kind of broadly speaking.  I believe Mr. Fortier is going to be saying some other words about activities related to this.


But let me just say a few words about the broader program that I’ve been engaged in, really before for the last several years.  It actually started during the work of the President’s Commission on Election Administration.  So the first thing -- actually the zero thing I will say is that I have longer remarks that I know will be published by the Commission and included in those remarks will be links to various resources that I will be making reference to today.

So, the first thing I will say is that when the President’s Commission was working, the Voting Technology Project agreed to host the series of online tools, that Mr. Fey just referred to, that are drawn from management science.  These are standard tools that are used by retail establishments to establish, for instance, how many checkout lines are needed, or how many service points are needed, in order to manage lines in retail establishments and many other settings.  And we collected those tools and we’ve made them available.  Anyone can assess those tools by going to two websites.  The first is still the PCEA’s website supporthevoter.gov, as well the Voting Technology Project’s website, web.mit.edu/vtp, also is a portal to the use of these online tools.  
A few months ago -- here I will show for a new resource “Managing Polling Place Resources” is a white paper that we published last November, which talks about the intellectual background for people who think that some of these tools are just hocus pocus, what’s the science behind them, and then, also has some case studies about how the tools actually can be implemented.  
So, that’s the first thing I would say is that in terms of planning before an election there are a couple of tools that are up and posted that we have testimony from places that have used it and found those tools useful.  I would encourage local officials to make use of those tools, even now, in planning for November.  

On the other end is what can be done in order to assess after the election.  And here it seems to me that if we’re concerned about how long lines are and making them shorter, then we need to know how long the lines, in fact, are.  Again, as we just heard, oftentimes all we know about where long lines are occur because some enterprising reporter searches out long lines.  And as a consequence, very few people have systematic evidence or information about which polling places have long lines, which have short lines.  And without precise information about that it seems to me it’s virtually impossible for local officials to take positive action to correct problems as they arise. 

One of my goals has been to rely, again, on the scientific literature to try to understand what sort of protocols and procedures could be put in place by local officials to accurately measure how long their lines are at the precincts.  And we’ve hit upon a deceptively simple procedure that’s talked about in the white paper I just mentioned.  It relies on something called Little’s Law.  I could show my PowerPoint deck about the derivation of Little’s Law, but I will spare you that, so you will just have to trust me at the moment in which I say that it’s possible to calculate with almost 100 percent accuracy how long the lines were on Election Day at a polling place precinct, if you know two things; if you know the arrival rate of voters, and if you know, on average, how long the lines were, you can calculate very precisely how long the average wait was, two very simple things.  Almost every local election official knows how many people showed up at each polling place on Election Day.  So the real trick is measuring how long the lines were on Election Day.  On average, throughout the day, with those two things you can calculate the average wait time.  
My time is about done, but I’ll just say that we’ve developed and we’ll soon be posting for anybody to use a very simple coding sheet.  All it requires is somebody in a precinct every hour to record how many people are waiting to vote.  One other piece of information, at what time of the day did the very last person check in.  With that information and we’ve seen in many jurisdictions that have already tried this out, this is doable, very doable.  And the information you can get is highly precise and very actionable.  
And so, I will just end there with just the final point that oftentimes local officials are worried about implementing management by data, because they are worried that it’s both complicated and it will remove their poll workers from important tasks in the polling place on Election Day.  And certainly, those are legitimate concerns.  But I think there’s some very simple things that involve a minimum of data that can be done that would yield tremendous benefits to everybody if they were to implement them.  
So, thank you for your time and I’ll look forward to the discussion. 
MR. ERTEL:
Thank you very much Chairman Hicks, Commissioner Masterson, Commissioner McCormick.  Thanks for having us here and hopefully we’re able to provide some good insight, not only for each other I mean, but also for those folks that are watching.  Eric, I was you know -- I felt bad for you when you said that, you know, your media called you and said, “Hey where are the long lines?” 

I’m going to give you a media tip that I always use which is I say the long lines are in the next county.

[Laughter]



And sometimes it works.  Sorry Bill Cowles.

He’s my neighboring county SOE.  
But thanks for having us here.  I mean, the one interesting thing about a Florida election’s official being here is that because Florida is going to be the epicenter of this upcoming election.  We talked about the CNN earlier, you know.  It’s pretty well known because the way the Electoral College works, and this is going to be a bit of a spoiler alert, what candidate California is probably going to go for, and which candidate Texas is going to go for, and Hawaii, and Alaska.  So the campaigns are going to focus on these ten swing states.  The second largest swing state is Ohio with 18 electoral votes.  The largest swing state is Florida with 29.  So, we really will be the focus of this election, no stress on Florida at all.  And you know we kind of made some news back in 2000, as well, when it comes to elections, so if you’re a media member and you want to learn all about fun election process come to Florida, because we’ve really moved forward quite a bit in our processes.

And one of the things that have helped to make us do it is data.  It’s really data.  I mean, I always tell our staff, if you measure it, you can improve it.  So let’s measure it, because everything that you do, that we do there is when it comes to the length of the line, when it comes to how many voting booths, when it comes to how long it takes people to vote, when it comes to everything we do, we can measure that.  We can’t measure the personalities.  We can’t measure somebody taking longer because they just like hanging out in the voting booth a little bit longer.  But we can tell if our ballot is going to be this long, it’s going to have this many questions on it, and this many candidates on it, that how long is it going to take that voter to actually cast that ballot.  And so, we can practice that ahead of time, know ahead of time how long it’s going to take an average voter to cast a ballot.  From that bit of data you can, you know, get the rest of it.  Okay, if it’s going to take them a minute and 12 seconds to cast a ballot, how long is it going to take them to be in line?  So, how long will it take them to do other things as well?  So, it’s -- you know, and there’s a bit of an art to it as well.  I mean, elections management is a science, and then it’s the art that we deal with because we also know in certain polling locations there’s going to be very high turnout because there’s a very contentious election going on in that city.  Next door, in another city, maybe there’s not any contentious elections, so the lines won’t be as long, and there won’t be as many people outside with signs in their hand taking up parking spaces that voters should be -- that should be there for voters.  
And parking is, and I wrote it down here, parking is without a doubt one of the number one considerations when it comes to the length of the line that people are going to have.  If you can park, you’re going to vote.  So I want to get you to park.  So, when we pick our polling locations, we do things like make sure -- the room can be great.  We can shove as many people into a room as we can, and if they’re a little hot maybe they’ll vote quicker and get out quicker, but we want to get them parked.  Especially in a suburban community like we have, you know, there’s not a whole lot of folks walking and we don’t have a huge public transit system for folks getting to the polls, so they’re generally driving.  If we can get them parked, we can get them in the polling place, we can get them to actually vote.  Picking out polling places, making it easier to get in, little things like -- and this is going to sound silly -- we want you to turn right to get into your polling location, because if you have to turn left to get into your polling location, you’re going to hold up traffic, and if you’re holding -- I know everybody is in the back of their mind is going, wow, you’re right -- because if you’re holding up traffic, then potentially, you’re not going to vote.  If you’re a voter that’s like, okay, I’ve only budgeted an hour at lunchtime to come and vote today, you may go forward -- you may leave and not actually vote.  We want to get you there, get you parked, get you in line.  Once you’re in line and you see people behind you in line, you’re not leaving, you know.  There’s a mindset that once someone else is behind you in line, you’re not going to leave.

So, you know, I see my time is fairly close to being up.  But I do want to talk about some of the things we do, later on, about to make sure that our lines are very short.  Once the folks actually get into the polling location, how do we make sure we have enough equipment, how do we make sure that the equipment isn’t something that is -- that if it breaks down, there’s no contingency plan.  I mean, in our office we have contingency plans for our contingency plans, because we want to make sure that everything works out perfectly well, because, after all, we are Florida.  

DR. FORTIER:

Thank you Chairman Hicks, thank you Commissioners McCormick and Masterson, I appreciate you having all of us here today.  It’s a very timely subject.  I’m going to overlap a little bit with Charles Stewart, but will get more into detail.  I guess the big message is this is a -- the light was not green enough -- I would overlap a little bit with what Charles Stewart said.  We are working together as institutions, but the big message really is we are going to go from knowing very little about lines, especially at the polling place level, to knowing a lot.  And that’s a message that I think is -- it’s important, but it’s also -- it’s a recruitment pitch as well.  If there are jurisdictions watching us, I’ll get into it a little bit more, there are opportunities for you to be part of this program, for you to know much more about what is going on in your county or your jurisdiction, plus the ability to compare nationally what’s going on.  So I think we’re at a moment where we finally moved from what was very little knowledge to a lot of knowledge.


We, at the BPC, work with the President’s Commission on Election Administration.  We host their work after their recommendations were put out.  That Commission, if you recall, the President called, after the 2012 election, saw lines.  There were clearly some long lines at specific places.  He said we should fix that.  The Commission cared about that.  The Commission issued some recommendations that there be a goal of waiting no longer than 30 minutes in line.  Put some tools out to measure capacity.  There are a number of things that it did.  
But getting back to the point of knowledge, while we knew some very general things about lines and we knew about some specific instances, we did not really know at the level that we needed to know.  We had post election and posted recommendations, some surveys done by Charles Stewart and others, who really can tell us at the state level how many people -- how long people thought they voted in line, but, again, nothing at the county level, nothing at the precinct level, nothing telling us what time of day lines were.  And that’s what we’re really trying to get into here.


We have the program, Charles alluded to it, it is very simple, that we tried it out in a number of places.  We tried it out in Fairfax County.  They’ve actually tried it out, they did the work.  But without so much notice at an earlier election, they went to their poll workers, to all of their precinct captains and said “We’d like you to use this very simple form and write down how many people are in line at every hour; how many people are in line at the opening, how many people in line each hour until the polls closed.”  That’s all.  It could be done on a piece of paper.  Some jurisdictions might choose to put it in a spreadsheet or use an app, but it is meant to be simple to collect the basic information that we need.  It is meant to be very respectful of all the time that election administrators use for other important duties at the polling place.  We don’t believe that this is going to take longer than a couple of minutes each hour, one person, even if the line is long, walking that line and just writing down a simple number.  That’s what we’re asking for.  


And what might that provide?  Charles alluded to the more complicated things that it might provide or the things related to management science and queuing theory and Little’s Law, and how that simple number can translate into telling about wait times, but let me just put it in several categories.  


First, aside from all the great academic knowledge, all the big knowledge we’ll learn about lines, it really is a management tool for counties themselves.  So counties -- Fairfax knew about some places in their county that had some problems with lines.  But once all the data came back they said, “Oh there’s some places we didn’t really know about.”  Maybe they weren’t the longest of lines, but there was an issue at this polling place.  In the morning the lines spiked a bit.  What happened there?  And it was really an eye opener for local election officials.  So, I stress that aside from all of the benefits of being part of a national program, being part of a standardized program, learning a lot about the general science of lines, that this is a good thing for you and your counties to do as well, to really know what was going on in different places to be able to then go back after the election, assess whether these were caused by one-time events, whether they were caused by lack of capacity, whether there are certain parts of the county that are voting earlier in the morning or voting at night.  So, this is real information as a management tool for jurisdictions.

Second, we will be able to provide you a sort of benchmark, a benchmark across your state related to the size of counties and other places.  We’ll be able to give you some sense of what’s going on in other places.  Is it a local problem or not?  I’m running out of time.  I’ll say one more.  There’s some deeper analysis that we can do, and we will know a lot more about lines in general way that I think will contribute to the great knowledge of the science of lines that will help everybody broadly down the road.  
And the last thing I will say is that this is a program that we had had great response already but we encourage more.  So lots of large counties, Chicago, Cook County, hosted a meeting with us, the State of Virginia, most of the counties in the state, many of the people on this panel and the earlier, lots of jurisdictions have joined.  It is an opportunity for small, medium and large jurisdictions to join and use this very simple technique which will help you, but will also help the general knowledge about what to do about lines in the future.

CHAIR HICKS:



Thank you.  It’s great information to give to us today.
With that, I want to open it up to questions and starting with Commissioner McCormick.

COMMISSIONER McCORMICK:

Okay, thank you very much to all of our panelists for being here.  Long lines are obviously in the forefront of the media as we’ve already seen in this primary season and, you know, it’s kind of interesting to me to see the jurisdictions where this is happening.  It’s not places where there are inexperienced election administrators.  Some of the administrators have worked, you know, 20, 30 years in this business and have run into this problem.  So it’s -- you know it can affect anybody no matter how much experience you have or how ready you think you are for elections.


Dr. Fortier, we’re coming close to the end of the primary season, so are you looking for jurisdictions to do this for November?  Are we expecting lines in November?  And how do jurisdictions contact you in order to be involved in this program?

DR. FORTIER:

Sure, we have worked with a number of jurisdictions who have, I mentioned Fairfax County, again, in an earlier election, actually in the 2014 midterm elections, and now has it as part of their regular process, their local elections, primary elections.  They view this as a beneficial thing.  So they’re already engaged.  A number of other jurisdictions have been active in the primary as a way to try this out.  If possible, it is useful to, you know, try it out at a lower turnout election, but we believe, again, it’s a simple collection process.  So, if there are jurisdictions who have not yet held their primaries who would like to be in touch, we would encourage that.  You can be in touch through the Bipartisan Policy Center’s bipartisanpolicy.org and we will have actually a more specific landing page which I can give you the -- we will send to you the more specific URL for that.  But for now that’s the case.  
Do we expect lines?  Yes, I mean, even in a perfect world we expect there will be some lines.  I mean, certainly lines are caused by many things and there will be, if nothing else, emergencies or things that go wrong which cause lines.  But to identify where they were, to do the best you can to mitigate them on Election Day, we have a report coming out in the summer looking at counties and how they manage Election Day with their Election Day command centers.  That’s part of the puzzle, too, to really figure out how to mitigate these things.  But we expect lines.  
And I do think, you know, one thing about joining this program some people may worry that they will now be exposing their dirty laundry to the world.  It should be expected that there will be some problems some places.  I think this data will give you the ability to say we now know where it is, we know how to address it or also to show that while there may be a few places that have some long lines that generally things are going well because most people don’t wait in lines.  I think the survey data shows that there are a lot of places that things are going quite smoothly.  So it really is -- we shouldn’t expect there will be nothing but we should know where they are and we should be able to give that information to the people who can address those problems both on the ground and then in the future. 
COMMISSIONER McCORMICK:

Thank you.  Professor Stewart I think it’s, you know, fascinating the marriage of sort of general management tools with the election world.  I’m kind of surprised we haven’t done that already in this business.  
We’re talking about line management.  Are those tools -- I mean, are these metrics predicate on turnout predictions and is that part of the calculus? 

DR. STEWART:

Yes and no.  Well, the planning tools certainly are and the planning tools that have been posted up now for a couple of years are predicated on good estimates about what turnout will be.  


The good news about the bad news of a presidential election, the bad news being the big surge, is that turnout in presidential years is the most predictable of all election types.  And so, while it’s certainly the case that modes of voting are evolving, fewer people are coming to a polling place on Election Day than they used to be.  Last -- the last time’s presidential election, I would be willing to bet and I think most of us in this business would be willing to bet, it’s going to be highly correlated with the number of people showing up in 2016 in November.

I think the real challenge and you made reference to, you know, some of the problems that have come up during the presidential primary season is that it’s still very difficult to predict turnout in non-presidential years, even midterm elections which are the second highest turnout elections.  There’s great deal of variability from one midterm to the next.  And then, when you get into presidential elections it’s -- I don’t want to say it’s nigh near impossible, but it is the case that the work hasn’t been done to come up with really good predictive models yet.  And so, you know, let’s hope that we’re learning something from this series season of primaries but that’s certainly an area where a lot more work needs to be done.

COMMISSIONER McCORMICK:

Thank you.  Professor Chapin you were talking about collection of data and, you know, there’s so many data points that can be collected it’s overwhelming actually.  Do you have any advice for election officials who are just starting to use data and where they should start, what they should start with?  What are one or two pieces of data other than, of course, what they have to collect for EAVS survey…

[Laughter]

…which is already substantial?  But is there -- are there pieces that -- you know where to start, where to start here?

MR. CHAPIN:

Certainly, and first of all thank you to the promotion to professor.  I will make sure that the University of Minnesota hears that.

[Laughter]

COMMISSIONER McCORMICK:



Oh, okay, Mr. Chapin, thank you.

MR. CHAPIN:



No, that could work for me. 

[Laughter]

But I think that in many ways the data that election officials need to do this kind of analysis might already be in their own hands whether it’s their voter records or their election management system.  And we talk a lot about the intense localization of election administration in this country, but in some ways that’s a feature, not a bug, in that election officials know their communities.  They know, as Mr. Ertel pointed out, where the “hot” mayoral races are, where people are going to be shaking their fists at one another in the parking lot as opposed to kind of a sleepy uncontested election.  But going to the voter level and getting a sense of both who is turning out and how that associates with whether they’re returning a ballot by mail, whether they’re showing up in person, how old they are, where they live in many ways the information they already have in hand could be incredibly valuable.  
We were discussing at the break that it’s somewhat ironic that the person talking about data and wearing a sweater vest on the last panel was not me, but I will, I will point out, one, that it’s 80 degrees outside; but two…

[Laughter]

…that I think that in some ways that kind of algorithm could be really powerful in this field as well.  I think we are starting to see -- I’ve often talked about the electorate as akin to an investment portfolio; that you have different people who perform in different ways.  Some people show up regularly in person.  Other people are federal only and like to vote through the mail or vote early and absentee.  And having a sense of how different parts of your electorate perform whether that’s based on their age, their residence, their demographics, what have you, is an incredibly powerful thing and knowing who’s going to show up where and when is something that would be very important.  And I would love to see, if not Mr. Uminsky from LA, but somebody else starting to do that kind of analysis with their own voter records to help us think about who’s coming before we know.  All we know is that this fall, just like in Jaws, we’re going to need a bigger boat.  But knowing how big a boat we need will be crucial so that folks aren’t standing in line longer than they have to on Election Day.

COMMISSIONER McCORMICK:

Very good point, Mr. Ertel you talked about practicing lines.  Do you actually do that?  Do you take a day with your staff and reenact it?

MR. ERTEL:

Absolutely, we do it beforehand and we’ve done it afterwards.  And Professor Chapin pointed…

[Laughter]

…you know was kind enough to point it out on his thing, you know.  We do things like check and see how long it takes to fill out a ballot based on using a ballpoint pen versus a felt tip pen.  And I mean this is nerdology to the nth degree, but we do that to make sure that, you know, to -- to kind of counteract Charles’ points I think a lot of elections are extremely predictable; how long the lines are going to be, how long it’s going to take for a voter to cast their ballot, what  times people will do it.  And I think that what they’re doing together with their project, and we’re helping out with that, or will be one of the counties that provides information, is vital because that’s something that can be done at a national level and then even scaled back to the local level for folks locally.

So, yeah, we do it.  We take -- we want to maintain -- what’s that?
COMMISSIONER McCORMICK:

Are there videos of this?

MR. ERTEL:

No there’s no videos of practice voting because a fun fact about voting when you practice on a piece of paper and you take a video of it then some people may think that you’re actually voting well beforehand.  Yeah, so it’s -- yeah fun stuff.   

So -- but you have to maintain in the entire process, along the way, as much control over the process, so you know everything that’s going to happen.  
COMMISSIONER McCORMICK:


Well, it sounds like you thought out every detail.
MR. ERTEL:

We try our best.
COMMISSIONER McCORMICK:

Do you have some sort of checklists?

MR. ERTEL:

Oh my goodness, checklist, checklist, checklist and spreadsheets.  The most – yeah, the most government phrase I’ll say all day checklist, checklist, checklist and spreadsheets.  We have checklists for everything and we have chain of custody for every single thing that goes along the way because we don’t want any surprises.  We order well -- far too many ballots than we need.  We have far too many pens.  I mean it’s cheaper to order extra ballots than to defend yourself in a lawsuit.  So we go out of our way to make sure that we have all the supplies we need and all the things we need.  So, yes, we have checklists galore.  So -- and if anybody ever wants one just give us a call, we’ll e-mail it to you.  

COMMISSIONER McCORMICK:



Feel free to submit for our website.

MR. ERTEL:



Okay, will do, will do, will do.

COMMISSIONER McCORMICK:

Mr. Fey, I think actually a lot of what goes on here is dealing with the media, right?  So where do you start with media relations?  How do election administrators develop the relationships that you were talking about?  What’s the first step in doing that?

MR. FEY:



Sure, well, in…

COMMISSIONER McCORMICK:



Good defenses and offense, right?

MR. FEY:

Exactly, exactly, in Missouri, the equivalent of our Freedom of Information law is called the Sunshine Law, and so, the media is quite often submitting requests for, you know, information through our state Sunshine Law.  And I just started early on just trying to go out of my way to get that information to them as quickly as possible, disclose it in a format that’s easy for them to use, an electronic format, things like that.  And then, just frankly, you know, at our commissioner meetings, just making small talk with them before and after and things like that just to kind of humanize yourself, so you’re not just a piñata, you know, when things go wrong, that  they do have some sympathy for you as I mentioned earlier.  So -- but yeah, just rather than, you know -- last week we had our annual election conference in Missouri, our county clerks and so forth, and you know, there’s a lot of clerks, you know, in my neighboring jurisdictions have this kind of adversarial relationship with the media, in my opinion, needlessly, and I think that just, you know, when they ask for something, try to put yourself in their shoes and help them get it, and I think you kind of win brownie points that way.  I think it’s to a certain extent paid off for me and for us in St. Louis County.

COMMISSIONER McCORMICK:



Thank you very much.  Thank you Mr. Chairman.
CHAIR HICKS:



Commissioner Masterson.

VICE-CHAIR MASTERSON:

Thank you Mr. Chairman.  Thank you to all the panelists for being here and talking to us.  Mr. Ertel, to steal I think a concept that you raised and to steal from my friend Keith Cunningham, who always used to say if you think a good election is expensive, you should see a bad one, right?  That’s the cost.


And so, I want to start first with Mr. Fey, and before I start I have a couple questions for you, I want to recognize, one, you being here, and the challenges you faced and owning up and moving forward, and assure you, you know, my old boss, Paul DeGregorio ran elections in St. Louis County, I know it’s a complicated county, but long is the line of election officials who have gone through similar challenges as you and came out the other side better off in knowing more.  So kudos to you for taking ownership, being here talking about what you’ve learned. 


So, that’s actually my initial question.  You mentioned some of the changes you’re making.  What are the three big takeaways that you had from the experience, and what major or minor changes -- you mentioned, you know, cardboard voting booths and solutions like that.  What are you doing to prepare for November knowing what you know now? 

MR. ERTEL:

Sure, well as I’ve seen on Doug’s blog quite often, and I think Commissioner McCormick mentioned it, before we all started here today, details matter a lot in elections.  And everybody up here on this panel knows it, the Commissioners know it.  And it was just -- in our case it was a simple matter of, you know, we have a lot of things going on and a couple details slipped through the cracks and that’s what really came back to bite us.  And so, details matter.  So, having the controls in place, as Mr. Ertel pointed out, you know, you got to have those checklists, but you also have to use the checklists.  You can’t just have the checklist there, you know, just to be there.  

As I mentioned earlier, we’re trying to deploy electronic poll books later this year.  Again, as I mentioned, all of our neighboring jurisdictions have these and, you know, we’ve really seen through them how well those can move lines.  Other things, you know, we’re trying to look into, in the long term, our commission met last month and they made a few proposals.  One of those proposals was to move to kind of a merit/civil service hiring process.  All of our employees are patronage employees.  And so, that’s something I don’t know how many other election administrators encounter that across the country, but it’s something our commission has kind of keyed in on now.  But again, that’s kind of a long term solution.  
And frankly, as Mr. Ertel pointed out, parking and facilities is a big issue for us, as well, because we’re a mostly suburban community.  We have some inner ring suburbs in St. Louis County.  And finding a polling place is one thing and keeping it is another.  Where -- I just was talking with a school superintendent the day before I left to come here and she said, “Our high school is under construction in August for your primary, you can’t use it.”   I said, “Okay, are we good to go for November? “  She said, “Well, we’re having construction that day.”  I said, “But your school is off that day.”  She goes, “Yeah, we’re having construction that day.”  So, you know, these are the things that you compete with, and so, it’s a constant give and take with the building administrators and owners.  And, you know, I wish I could have a right turn into all my polling places.
[Laughter]

I mean, that would be fantastic, but I’m just happy to have one, you know, in the precinct where it’s required.  
And thank you Commissioner Masterson for your comments.  It has been a very difficult time but it’s very nice to be here with these colleagues and to have these tools to try to improve in our process for sure.
VICE-CHAIR MASTERSON:

Well, I appreciate you being here.  And to be honest with you, there isn’t an election official sitting here listening to your testimony or seeing what you went through that thought thereby the grace of God go I, right?  And we can learn so much from those challenges.


You mentioned the parking, and I’m curious as to -- the professors we’ll lump you in -- have looked at measuring lines.  Has parking been part of this measurement or conversation?  To be honest with you, that’s the first I’ve heard it mentioned in reference to lines.  Is this part of your measurement or anything you study or heard with the PCEA even? 

DR. STEWART:
Well, there’s an empirical question there, which is I don’t know even if the PCEA report mentions parking, it probably does.  We will recall that actually one of the issues in the New Hampshire primary was in one town where there was a traffic jam into the high school that I think they ended up extending voting in that town because of traffic. 


Having said that, I’ve never seen the study that takes into account parking, although, you know, my colleagues who are the local election officials mention this quite regularly.  So, it’s low hanging fruit for folks out there, definitely.
DR. FORTIER:
I’ll just chime in, I agree with Charles.  I don’t think anybody has really done this study.  There have been a few studies of vote centers in sort of geographical locations and sort of how they go along commuting better.  That’s not exactly the same thing as parking.  Some sense that some of these vote centers that are located in super stores or large institutions that, say, Walmart or Home Depot, has tried to figure out what’s a good location, convenient parking.  Sometimes election officials will piggyback on science that has gone into picking these locations and determining parking.  
And the last small thing I’ll say is that this is very -- not at a universal level in any way, but we, Charles as well, is leading more detailed analysis of polling places and we’ve done some ourselves in conjunction with Charles, in which some of that is diagramming out where the parking lot is and some sense of how long the walk is from the parking lot to the polling place.  We haven’t done that much with that, so it’s at its infancy.  So, I do think that there’s something to be said about doing more in this regard, but there are little pieces out there.
MR. CHAPIN:
And, actually, Commissioner, I would also say I think that as we begin to understand more about how polling places are laid out, not just on the inside but on the outside, I think we do need to think about parking as part of the line.  And, in fact, in places where there are more voters than there are parking spaces one could, if one wanted to put on one’s lawyer’s hat, make the argument that a voter who is waiting, who is stalking another person for their parking space could be considered to be in line to vote, and not necessarily just someone who is standing inside the building.  So, in those communities that have or are willing to use tools like GAS -- GIS or traffic management and the like, to the extent that you can think about how people physically get to a location, not just from their car, inside the building, is again going to be one of those 21st Century skills that we need to think about because if I have left home or my work or I’m late to pick up my kids, and I’m sitting in my car and I’ve not yet voted, the law might not consider me to be in line, but I consider myself to be in line, and if that’s the case I want my local election official to be thinking about how to avoid that going forward.

VICE-CHAIR MASTERSON:

You can actually collectively hear the States of Ohio and Florida shudder at the thought of that lawsuit.

[Laughter]

Let me follow up with the professors again, and then, I have a question for the election officials  And that is convince me, convince the election officials, what value now heading into a presidential election year is it for me to measure my lines in November and know after the fact?  And I’ll give you an analogy in election circles and that is post election audits.  Well, those have taken hold.  I think a lot of people have seen value.  The pushback initially was that’s great, it’s not really going to tell me anything until after the fact.  So, why am I wanting to measure my lines and know after the fact, what I really want to do is prevent the lines before the fact?  And I think what you all will tell me is, yes, you want to do both.  But tell me, why do I want to measure the lines?  What’s the value?  Why do I want to participate in your study?  
DR. FORTIER:
Well, I’m going to take your bait and tell you that it is worthwhile knowing for the next election and being prepared looking ahead.  I don’t think every jurisdiction is going to do this, but this is relatively simple collection data that could be used more real time.  There are jurisdictions who try to project out real time, what wait times are.  This sort of collection it is possible.  If you had a regime where some of this can be reported more accurately back to a centralized command center, you may have on-the-ground information that is actionable.  So, wouldn’t it be nice to know that it isn’t just depending on your local precinct captain to call in and say, “I’m having a problem” that you might be able to monitor that there are a number of -- the numbers are high, the numbers of people waiting in line are high at a certain place, and to be able to redeploy, perhaps, in an early voting center, or vote center scenario.  So, while I’m not sure that’s going to be used by many, many jurisdictions that it -- it is certainly possible.  And we think that the practice of knowing what’s going on at an hourly basis at your polling places, and having some method of collecting that, maybe it begins with collection and after the fact, but it certainly can be integrated more into real time where some reaction can be made. 
DR. STEWART:


If I can just add to that, that when I’ve been talking to local officials about this, one of the things that immediately resonates is when I just mention, well, you know, we’re going to be having elections forever. 

[Laughter]

And I think the right way to think about this is that, you know, this is the beginning of a habit of mind and it starts at the top, and then it goes down into the precincts.  At the top it’s the continuous improvement based on metrics.  And we’ll learn something this time, we’ll do better.  2020 it will be even better and we will get better with each election.  So don’t think about this as one election, think about this as the rest of our career working together to improve things here.

The other thing, as John was just suggesting, to translate that habit of mind into the precincts.  And I mean to continue the analogy to mindfulness, to having somebody in a precinct being aware of exactly how many people are in line gives those folks an opportunity to take ownership over the process in the precinct in a very precise way, very precise feedback, and then, also allows then the local official maybe to create kind of rules of thumb, you know.  If the line gets to be more than eight people call, right?  So, then you can get these action items out there to maybe help the central office manage things a little better on Election Day.

So, I think there’s a lot of things that could be held, a lot of advantages to implementing this now, but there’s also the long term to think about. 

VICE-CHAIR MASTERSON:



So, let me follow up just with you Charles.  Go ahead, I’m sorry.

MR. CHAPIN:
I want to endorse everything that’s already been said, especially what Charles calls habit of mind, I would call muscle memory.  But the very practical response to your question is the reason to do it this fall is because there will be people to count.  That if you are trying to train people to count people asking them to do it in an election, where there is one voter an hour or two voters, you know, it’s very easy to discount the importance of something when there’s nothing to count.  If on the other hand you are asking people to get in the habit of counting voters in a time when there are going to be lots of voters to count, it will make it easier to convince them to do so in the future.

Also, by getting a baseline in an election when you know you have lots of people, will make it more powerful to then apply those techniques in elections when there’s a lot more randomness in terms of the number of people who come in.  So, in some ways there’s that old -- I think it was Willie Sutton was asked, “Why do you rob banks?  He said, “Because that’s where the money is.”  I think the reason we want to count voters in a presidential election year is because we know that they’ll turnout.  And that’s a habit of mind or a muscle memory that we want to develop for the future. 

VICE-CHAIR MASTERSON:
Dr. Stewart, I think it’s your research that has shown that the places that have had lines have kind of traditionally had lines; that it’s kind of the same areas or counties that have had it.  Are you all through your research and work targeting those particular counties or trying to work with those counties that have shown to have lines kind of typically at each either presidential or both, you know, midterm and presidential years?

DR. STEWART:

Yes, in a couple of ways, in a general way, and in a very specific way.  In a general way, by, we know that the largest jurisdictions and most urbanized jurisdictions in general are the places that on average have longer lines.  And I think that’s one of the reasons why there’s been a focus on large jurisdictions in this national project, although we are eager as well to work with any jurisdiction.  That’s the first thing.


The second thing very practically, as John was mentioning, we have an opportunity to work with the State of Virginia, which did not get quite national note of some other states, but is one of the states with the longest lines, from my survey work.  I just came back from Florida, where we talked to the supervisors of elections there, and many of the counties in Florida will be involved in this project.  And I hope when I go and talk to the folks in Ohio later this summer that we can also get some folks from Ohio as well.  So, there are efforts to reach out to the types of places and the places themselves that have had the longest lines in the past, yeah.
VICE-CHAIR MASTERSON:

Mr. Ertel, you had I think a very good quote, talk in sound bites right, saying if you can measure it, you can fix it.  And I think that mindset is starting to take hold in elections, thanks a lot to folks like you and the folks at this panel that are pushing data.  What would you tell your colleagues, or what do you tell your colleagues about measuring this and accepting and using data?  Because there’s an older mindset that said, if I measure it I have to share it, essentially, and I’m scared to share that data because of the story it tells.  And so, what do you tell your colleagues in Florida and other places about measuring it and improving?

MR. ERTEL:

Yeah, we just -- first of all, we steal the idea from everybody else.  I mean, we’re not the brightest kids in the house.  We see that Hillsborough County does checklists, and so, we’re like, wow, that’s really brilliant, so we’re going to steal the checklist idea from Hillsborough County.  We see that Orange County does things that we take from them, and Polk County.  So, really we have taken from a lot of what other counties have done with their best practices and sort of put it -- you know, put it out there and saying okay, we’re taking this idea and we love it so we’re going to use it.

So, I think by combining it all, locally, where we do it, and then, telling the world about it because, you know, a lot of what we do is not just efficient elections, it’s voter confidence and letting the voters know that their vote is going to count.  And so, if they’re in line and they know that after waiting, hopefully no more than 30 minutes, that their vote is going to count, they’re definitely going to stay in that line.  If they think that their vote is not going to count, then they may leave that line.  And so, our role is to also ensure that the voters know that these things that we do are done to make sure your vote counts, and that actually will, in turn, increase voter turnout, and hopefully, confidence in the process because, again, we’re Florida and we get picked on quite a bit.

VICE-CHAIR MASTERSON:

I promise this is my last one.  And that is just a rapid fire to each panelist, and it’s a tough one, but if you were to provide advice to jurisdictions that are trying to prevent lines, what one step would you encourage them to take to mitigate those lines heading into November?  And we’ll start with Mr. Fortier, and just kind of work our way down.
DR. FORTIER:
Using the best information that you have at hand to allocate your -- the capacity that you have accurately to polling places.  We know that lines are caused by many things, but one thing within your control is with the best information you have to allocate the resources to the places that need them.
MR. ERTEL:

I think maintaining as much control of the process as possible, knowing as much as you can about everything, not trusting that your vendor is going to take care of it.  You can’t outsource democracy.  You have to actually control it from the elections office to make sure that it gets done.  And touch everything.  As the elections administrator, touch everything.  Have that red editor’s pen.  You can’t do all the writing, but you can do all the editing.  

DR. STEWART:

I’ll make two recommendations sound like one.  When you go to the web tools, at the URLs I mentioned earlier, it’s very important that  service times, the time it takes to check in, the time it takes to mark a ballot be estimated precisely.  So, do that with a stopwatch.  Have practice voting, like Mr. Ertel talked about. 

MR. FEY:
I would also agree, practice voting is great and timing those things. Quite often though we have to have our buildings and resources and ballots ordered before we know how long the ballot is going to be, in some cases, so that can be difficult.  


One thing I would like the Commission to know, one concern I have, especially in Missouri, several of my colleagues across the state have decreased the number of polling places they use, in order to save money to buy new voting equipment.  And in municipal elections and primary elections that’s not that big of an issue, but I foresee it being an issue in November.  And you know, obviously, we all know that the challenges Maricopa County faced earlier this year, in their building, you know, allocation, and so forth.  So, that’s one thing I would -- I urge my colleagues to do and my colleagues across the country is, you know, for November, at least, you know, make sure you have adequate buildings, and so forth, because that’s -- the turnout is different in November for sure.
MR. CHAPIN:

And mine would be to engage with your voters before Election Day.  Here in the D.C. area we had a clothing store whose motto was an educated consumer is our best customer.  And to the extent that we can ensure that our voters show up on Election Day knowing that they’re registered, knowing where they’re registered, knowing what’s on their ballot and knowing where to go, that can solve a lot of problems on the demand side.  And I realize that’s a heavy lift sometimes, but making sure that problems are headed off in advance by dealing with voter challenges before Election Day, so that they’re happening in the privacy of their home, not at the front of the line, I think would go a long way toward making Election Day a better experience for everyone.
CHAIR HICKS:

I want to thank the panel for coming here today.  I have a few questions and they’re going to be geared out and just bear with me a little bit, because it’s just the way my mind works.


But for the practitioners on the panel, the election officials are going to come to you and say, “Well we love your data, we love being able to do this, but it’s going to come with some sort of cost.”  What sort of cost is going to be associated with the way that you’re asking the jurisdictions to collect data? 

DR. FORTIER:
I thought you meant practitioners meaning people who actually run elections.

CHAIR HICKS:



Yes.

[Laughter]

DR. FORTIER:



But I think you mean…
CHAIR HICKS:



The experts.
DR. FORTIER:

So, the simple answer is there is no direct cost.  I mean, obviously, time is a cost, but we’ve tried to keep that to a minimum.  We -- in terms of the simple data collection program we are asking people the simplest way is to use a paper form.  Charles has, I mentioned it, has his website.  One can do it with technology if one wants to, but it is not necessary and information will be sent in and we will be able to send some information back.  It will not -- there’s no fee to join, and we are very mindful that election officials have a lot going on and don’t need to be collecting lots of extra data, lots of extra time, so that time cost we have tried to keep to a minimum, too.  We think it shouldn’t, even in the long line cases, take more than two minutes of one person’s time each hour to write down the number of people in line.  That’s really the cost that we see.  We are not charging any fees and we’re hopefully providing some benefit. 

CHAIR HICKS:

Is there any sort of way that you can give advice to voters and give them some sort of -- and this, I guess, goes to everyone -- in terms of the -- when we’ve heard about long lines and allocation of resources, it’s mostly directed towards the election officials themselves and the people who are actually running the elections.  But is there any sort of advice you would give to voters themselves on how they can help to alleviate long lines, as well?

MR. CHAPIN:
I’ll just repeat my answer, again.  I mean, be prepared.  I mean, know -- check your registration, make sure that you’re registered at the address you’re expecting to vote, know what’s on your ballot.  If all of that is taken care in advance, then you will spend as little time engaging in friction with the process that sometimes creates lines, both for people behind you or if it happens to people in front of you, to you.  So if you can prepare yourself to vote, you can help both yourself get out of there more quickly as well as everyone in line. 
MR. FEY:

I think that’s correct.  You know, all of us have seen, on Election Day, voters show up and, you know, those first things on the ballot they know it bing, bang, boom, and then they get down to lower on the ballot and they’re like, “Where did this come from?  Who is this guy?  What is this ballot proposition?  I’ve never heard of any of this stuff.”  So, to the extent that, you know, there are a lot of social media outlets, and so forth, now, to try to educate voters we, you know, on the card we send out to all the voters I have started putting, at the last election, a QR code on there, you know, here’s a link to your sample ballot, just some simple things like that.  But yeah, for, Mr. Chairman, the -- for the voter out there, to the extent that they can familiarize themselves with their ballot, because in most jurisdictions it will be quite lengthy this November, that’s the best thing they can do for themselves, because otherwise they’ll show up and they’re going to be surprised on Election Day.

MR. ERTEL:

To sort of follow up on what Doug and Eric were saying, you know, we let the voters know because you’ll see a lot of voters, exactly like Eric said, you know, I know who I’m voting for for President, for Congress, for Senate and then, they get this constitutional amendment, and they’re like, what?  And so, they start reading it and they don’t understand what does yes mean, what does no mean.  So, we let our voters on our sample ballot know that they don’t have to vote on everything on the ballot.  You can go in and you can vote for your candidate for President and then be done.  Because -- and that will speed up lines as well because if a voter really just wants to vote for President and they think they have to complete all the answers on the test in order to pass, you don’t.  So, you can just come in vote for President, deposit your ballot and then leave.  So, letting them know that, letting them know more of the process it really is, and Doug hit it a couple questions ago, it really is just making sure the voter is prepared and knowing what they’re doing when they get in there, so they’re not walking in and then turning around and asking a poll worker what they’re supposed to do.  
CHAIR HICKS:

Anyone else?  Well, I just wanted to basically highlight our webpage on BeReady16, because we not only have issues and things for election officials, but also, for voters as well, so that they can be prepared as much as possible when they actually go towards the voting process.  And also, talk a little bit more about the fact that come September we are going to hopefully do something around voter registration day, as well, to highlight the fact that folks should be prepared for the election come November, as well.


With that, Commissioner Masterson had one more question.

VICE-CHAIR COMMISSIONER:

Sorry, it’s just for Dr. Stewart.  I think I had heard, and to be honest, I don’t know, are there tutorial videos on how to use the resource allocation tools?  Is that something if they don’t exist that you’re looking at or we could help put together?  Because I think part of the challenge that you’ve probably heard from election officials is they’re intimated to even get into the tools, but having played with them, myself, and worked with some county officials in Ohio, once you start doing it, it’s real intuitive.  And so, I didn’t know, is that something that’s been done?  Is that something you’d be willing to work with the Commission on to do, or interested in doing?

DR. STEWART:

Yes, so, the short answer is yes.  If you go to that website, since the initial launch -- when we initially launched the tools site we didn’t have real instructional materials there.  So, but if you go back there now, there are videos that do two things for the two major tools we have on the site.  The first is just simply showing how to use the tools to help ease people in.  And then, for those who want a little more bit of involvement with the tools, maybe for more complicated and comprehensive planning, we also have videos for both the tools to do that, as well.  


And we’d be delighted also to hear feedback from folks who’ve used those videos, because we’re certainly going to be updating them as time proceeds.

MR. FEY:

Thank you, just very quickly, one thing I’d like to add for all the practitioners out there in the field, you know, the first time I heard John talk about measuring these lines, I thought, oh, that’s just one more thing I have to worry about, now, to try to organize.  And so, I’m trying to work with a professor from one of our local universities for him to, you know, recruit students to, you know, undertake all the measurements, and so forth, because, as you can see, professors and almost professors, love this kind of stuff. 

[Laughter]

And so, rather than take it on yourself as an election official, I would encourage other election officials to try to partner with other folks in the community or in educational institutions to help with it, more or less.  So, thank you.

VICE-CHAIR MASTERSON:

I think that’s a fantastic suggestion.  I think it’s something many universities would embrace, and it fits right under their mission, quite honestly, so, that’s a great suggestion.  Thank you, I appreciate it.

CHAIR HICKS:
Mr. Fey, you talked a little bit about computer assisted voting with the QR code.  Is there any other innovative ideas that people might have on the panel to talk about, also helping out with the computer assisted voting for reducing long lines?

MR. CHAPIN:
Actually, Mr. Chairman, I would think online voter registration and lookup tools are incredibly powerful.  You know, I work with the University of Minnesota and there are many states across the country that have Election Day registration and I’ve talked to many election officials in Minnesota who really want to tell their voters that just because you can register to vote on Election Day doesn’t mean that you have to.  And, in fact, they’re trying to increase the number of what they call pre-registered voters.  So, someone who’s not at the front of the line filling out a registration application is someone who can move themselves and everyone behind them through the line.  So, all the tools that we have to get people on the rolls and allow people, like in Ohio, to check their registrations or update their registrations are incredibly powerful tools that I don’t think people are necessarily as aware of as line management tools as they should be. 

MR. ERTEL:

I mean, technology-wise this upcoming election we’re creating heat maps for past elections on where did the early voters -- for those people that have early voting in their states, where did the early voters that went to Castleberry Library, from where did they come?  And if they call came from too far away from the library, then let’s put a site closer to them.  That’s a high tech thing you can to do help minimize lines at the early voting.  A very low tech thing you can do is help John and the BPC and count the number of people in your line.  I mean, it just sounds silly, but had we all done this back in 2012, we’d have the data for 2016.  So, now we’re doing it in ‘16.  We’re going to have the data for 2020 and everyone is going to think John and Charles are the smartest guys in the room because they came up with it for this year.  

CHAIR HICKS:



They are.  

MR. ERTEL:



That’s why I’m sitting next to him.  I’m cheating off of his.

CHAIR HICKS:

Is there anything that you’ve seen in the primaries that you would want to highlight for the general election that people in jurisdictions and voters should be on the lookout for?

MR. CHAPIN:
Actually, I think one of the things to keep an eye out on, and we saw this in Maricopa and elsewhere, is that not everyone who gets in a line is eligible to cast a ballot, because of confusion about closed primaries or no party preference.  And so, one of the things that more and more election officials are going to have to be aware of is, how many people in line are not actually going to be able to cast a regular ballot, will be forced to cast a provisional, and what will that do to everyone else in the line. 

DR. STEWART:
Actually, I mean, I was thinking similar things, and it strikes me that, you know, the stories from the primaries have emphasized lines in particular places.  And, you know, there’s still investigations and studies being done, and I don’t want to prejudice those, but I think for the public to observe several places where voters have just hard times voting, for whatever reason, and for right or wrong reasons, the fact is, it’s in the press.  And I think that moving forward we need to be aware that for voters who didn’t go to the polls during the primaries, because after all, most voters don’t vote in the primaries, their last vision of a voting episode may very well be these stories from the primaries.

CHAIR HICKS:



Um-hum.

DR. STEWART:

And it strikes me that election officials -- we all have a bit of work to do to remind voters that, for instance, everybody can vote regardless of party registration.  There are some -- there are some things that were clearly at play in the primaries that will not be in play in the general.  And not to make it, you know, defensive or making excuses, but helping the public and the press recognize why November is going to be different than the presidential preference primary is going to be an important thing.  Maybe even just as important as addressing the issues that did arise and fixing those problems, there’s also this messaging, in general, I think is going to be an important thing.

CHAIR HICKS:

Before I open it up to -- before we close the meeting is there any last questions?  

COMMISSIONER McCORMICK:

I just wanted to make an observation.  Every single one of the panelists used the word awareness in one way or another, and I think that’s where we start, right, with both voters and the election administrators, awareness.  As we talked about the details are extremely important from the line into the parking lot to, you know, hovering over waiting for a space, to walking from the space into the building, from, you know, standing in line, electronic poll books ballots, pens.  I mean, every single detail matters.  And, of course, you know, there is not just future value to collecting the metrics on all of those details, but present value, as well, because we can fix things as we’re going if we see a problem crop up.


So, I want to thank all the panelists.  I just want to make a plug for voter confidence, there’s an old adage, it’s worth the wait.  Voting is worth the wait.  This concern with lines goes all the way up to the White House.  We’ve had numerous inquiries from Congress.  We are trying to address some of those concerns and this is one of the ways we’re trying to address it.  So, thank you to each of you and to the other panel, as well.  


So, thanks very much.

CHAIR HICKS:



Commissioner, do you have closing remarks?

VICE-CHAIR MASTERSON:



Closing remarks?

CHAIR HICKS:



Or if you don’t have any other questions.

VICE-CHAIR MASTERSON:

I don’t have any other questions.  I appreciate your time and I guess, on a note of optimism in looking towards the future, while I appreciate and love what you all are doing with simply just counting voters in line, I dream of the day when the EAC and NIST get the common data format done, and literally the systems can just share that data automatically and you don’t actually have to have a poll worker walking the lines to do that.  And that day is coming, as well as being able to use, frankly, cell phone information to understand who is where, and how long they’ve been waiting.  And that day is coming and already being worked on by several people.


So, thank you, you know.  We’re getting there on that.  The final plug I want to make is for our June 2nd Language Summit, it’s going to be out at College Park, Maryland.  It’s focused on language accessibility and resources available to voters with alternative -- or needing alternative language assistance.  It’s a fantastic program.  The information is up on our website.  It will include summit talks, TED talk style talks, as well as fantastic panelists by experts on that.  And again, that’s June 2nd at College Park, Maryland.  And then, for the election officials still tuning in and for voters, the BeReady16 page at eac.gov, lots of resources.  The tools are posted there, as well.  All of the information that we’ve talked about today from both panels are there.  And it’s really our effort to try again to help election officials and to serve them.

So, thank you, and thank you for your time.
COMMISSIONER McCORMICK:
And can I just mention we’re working with the Democracy Fund on the Language Summit and I want to give them props, too.  They’ve been very helpful in getting that together and we hope that you’ll all tune in for that.  Thank you. 

CHAIR HICKS:

Any other comments, no?  I want to thank this panel.  The second panel at our public meeting focused on long lines and allocation of resources.  This panel was a mix of experts who study Election Day operations and those who must live it every day and make the process run smoothly.  This is a very important topic, one that has been addressed by the President of the United States with the formulation of the PCEA, members of Congress with letters and comments to the EAC and John Q. Public.  It’s one of the questions that I definitely get whenever I go out to speak.  So, I want to thank everyone who participated here today and everyone who looked at our webcast.  And also, echo what Vice-Chair Masterson said that our next public meeting -- our next meeting will be June 2nd at the University of Maryland.  
And with that, I want to move to adjourn the meeting.

VICE-CHAIR MASTERSON:



I’ll second.  

CHAIR HICKS:

All those in approval say aye.  No one opposed. 
[The motion carried unanimously.]

 And I thank everyone for being here and the meeting is adjourned.

***

[The public meeting of the Election Assistance Commission adjourned at 12:33 p.m. EST]

PAGE  
20

